The effect of remote ischaemic conditioning and glyceryl trinitrate on perioperative myocardial injury in cardiac bypass surgery patients

The ERIC-GTN Trial

Dr Ashraf Atef Jiries Hamarneh MBChB, MRCP (London)

The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute

University College London

Doctorate of Medicine (Research)

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Due to the aging population and increased prevalence of co-morbidities (such as diabetes, obesity and renal failure), higher risk patients are undergoing coronary artery bypass graft and/or valve (CABG±valve) surgery, increasing the risk of post-surgical complications (such as perioperative myocardial injury/infarction), and worse clinical outcomes. As such, novel cardioprotective strategies are required to protect the heart against perioperative myocardial injury (PMI) during CABG±valve surgery. A number of clinical studies have shown that remote ischaemic preconditioning (RIPC), in which the arm or leg is subjected to cycles of brief ischaemia and reperfusion, by inflating a cuff placed on the upper arm or thigh, can reduce peri-operative myocardial injury (PMI) during CABG±valve surgery. However, not all studies have been positive, and large clinical outcomes studies (ERICCA and RIPHeart) have reported no benefit with RIPC in this clinical setting. The reasons for this are unclear but may relate to comedications used in this clinical setting including agents such as propofol anaesthesia, and morphine. In this thesis, I investigated whether glyceryl trinitrate (GTN), which is often given as an intra-operative intravenous (IV) infusion, is cardioprotective in its own right, and whether it attenuates the cardioprotective effect of RIPC in patients undergoing CABG±valve surgery.

Primary hypothesis: The effect of RIPC on reducing PMI will be attenuated in the presence of GTN administered as an intra-operative IV infusion in patients undergoing CABG±valve surgery.

Secondary hypothesis: GTN administered as an intra-operative IV infusion will reduce PMI in patients undergoing CABG±valve surgery.

METHODOLOGY

The ERIC-GTN trial (http://www.clinicaltrials.gov: NCT01864252) was a single-site, double-blinded, randomised, placebo-controlled clinical study investigating whether an intra-operative IV GTN infusion attenuates the cardioprotective effect of RIPC in patients undergoing CABG±valve surgery. Consenting adult patients (age >18 years) undergoing elective CABG±valve surgery with blood cardioplegia were eligible for inclusion. Following anaesthetic induction, patients were randomised to receive one of the four treatment groups:

Group 1 - Sham+Saline: a sham RIPC protocol (comprising simulated limb cuff inflations and deflations) followed by an intra-operative intravenous (IV) saline infusion.

Group 2 - Sham+GTN: a sham RIPC protocol followed by an intra-operative IV GTN infusion.

Group 3 - RIPC+Saline: a RIPC protocol (comprising three 5-minute cycles of simultaneous upper arm and thigh cuff inflations/deflations) followed by an intra-operative IV saline infusion.

Group 4 - RIPC+GTN: a RIPC protocol followed by an intra-operative IV GTN infusion. The primary endpoint was PMI, as quantified by 72 hour area-under-the-curve (AUC) serum high-sensitivity Troponin T.

RESULTS

The intended sample size was 260 patients, but following the results of an interim analysis of 189 patients, the ERIC-GTN trial was stopped. There was no difference in PMI in patients from Groups 1 (Sham+Saline) and 2 (Sham+GTN), suggesting that, in itself, an intra-operative GTN infusion was not cardioprotective. However, patients in Group 3 (RIPC+Saline) did sustain less PMI as evidenced by a 37% reduction in 72

hour AUC Troponin T release, when compared to patients in Group 1 (Sham+Saline), confirming the cardioprotective effects of RIPC. Interestingly, the beneficial effect of RIPC on reducing PMI in Group 3 (RIPC+Saline), was abrogated in the presence of GTN (Group 4, RIPC+GTN), suggesting a negative interaction between RIPC and intra-operative IV GTN infusion.

CONCLUSIONS

The interim analysis of the ERIC-GTN study has shown a negative interaction between RIC and GTN, suggesting that an intra-operative GTN infusion, attenuated the cardioprotective effects of GTN, in terms of reducing PMI in patients undergoing CABG±valve surgery. This finding may, in part, explain the results of the ERICCA trial in which RIPC failed to reduce major adverse cardiovascular events in patients undergoing CABG±valve surgery.

Impact statement:

The findings of the ERIC-GTN trial provides new insights into the interaction between remote ischaemic conditioning (RIC) and intravenous glyceryl trinitrate (GTN) given intraoperatively. GTN is used frequently in open heart surgeries, and establishing the relationship between GTN and RIC is crucial in translating the protective effect of RIC into the clinical setting. The results of this study suggest a negative interaction between RIC and intraoperative GTN, which, in part, could explain the neutral results of the ERICCA trial, in which no significant clinical benefit on patient outcomes was seen as a result of implementing RIC in the clinical setting of open-heart surgery. The ERIC-GTN trial could help provide information on which patients may benefit from the phenomena known as RIC in the clinical setting i.e. those who are not given intraoperative GTN. Our data adds to emerging studies suggesting other factors can

interfere with RIC such as diabetes and certain anaesthetic agents such as propofol.

Acknowledgements:

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors, Professor Derek Yellon and Professor Derek Hausenloy for their continuous support throughout the course of my research. Their incredible knowledge, expertise and professionalism was a source of inspiration during this fascinating journey. I would also like to thank Dr. Robert Bell and Dr. Roger Cordery for their help and support at every stage of this research. Their guidance was immensely helpful during the conduct of this project. I am also very grateful to Mr. Federico Ricciardi and Dr. Heerajnarain Bulluck for their expertise and help in the statistical analysis of this trial.

I would like to extend my gratitude to the cardiothoracic and anaesthetics team at both sites, The Heart Hospital and Bart's Heart Centre, for their help in making this trial possible. A special thank you goes out to the nursing staff at both sites who were very helpful and accommodating.

I would like to dedicate this work to my parents Atef and Haifa, my brother Wasim, sister in law Darine and my two beautiful nieces Clara and Cindy.

Finally, my sincere gratitude to my wife Nour, whose encouragement, love and support was the driving force behind this thesis.

Contents

<u>Title</u>	2age
Chapter 1	
1.1 Epidemiology of Coronary Artery Disease	18
1 2 Myocardial preservation techniques	21
	21
1.3 Short and long term complication in patients undergoing cardiac surgery	22
1.4 Peri-operative Myocardial Injury	26
 1.4.1 Identification of PMI following cardiac surgery 	30
1.5 Cardiac Troponin	30
1.6 Myocardial Ischaemia-Reperfusion Injury	32
 1.6.1 Reperfusion arrhythmias 1.6.2 Myocardial stunning 1.6.3 No-reflow phenomenon or microvascular obstruction 1.6.4 Lethal ischaemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) 1.6.5 Ischaemic Injury 	33 33 33 34 35
1.7 Ischaemic Preconditioning (IP)	36
1.8 Mechanisms of IPC	37
1.9 Remote Ischaemic Preconditioning	38
 1.9.1 Mechanisms of RIPC 1.9.2 Generation of the cardioprotective stimulus in the preconditioned remote organ/tissue 1.9.3 Intracellular signal transduction pathways and end-effectors of RIF 1.9.4 Clinical applications of RIPC 1.9.5 RIPC and cardiac Surgery 	40 20 40 44 45 46
1.9.6 Drawbacks of the clinical trial on RIPC in cardiac surgery	47

Title	Page
1.10 Glyceryl Trinitrate	50
• 1.10.1 History	51
 1.10.2 Effect and usage 	51
 1.10.3 Pharmacology 	51
 1.10.4 Metabolism 	52
 1.10.5 Pharmacokinetics in humans 	52
 1.10.6 GTN and cardioprotection 	52
1.11 Conclusion	54

Chapter 2

2.1 Aims and Objectives	56
2.2 Hypothesis	56
2.3 Overall Aim	57
2.4 Objectives	57

Chapter 3

3.1 Methods and Results	58
3.1.1 Overview3.1.2 Ethical approval and informed consent	58 58
3.2 Trial Design	59
 3.2.1 Overall design 3.2.2 Patient recruitment 3.2.3 Inclusion criteria 3.2.4 Exclusion criteria 3.2.5 Randomisation 3.2.6 Blinding 3.2.7 Intervention: RIPC and sham treatment protocols 3.2.8 Anaesthetic procedure 3.2.9 Surgical procedure 3.2.10 Valve replacement/Repair 	59 60 61 61 62 62 62 63 64

Title	Page
3.3 Study Secondary Endpoints	
 3.3.1 AKI 3.3.2 Inotrope requirement 3.3.3 Ventilator dependence postoperatively. 3.3.4 Incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation. 3.3.5 Length of ITU stay 3.3.6 Length of stay in hospital 	65 65 66 66 66
3.4 Statistical analysis and sample size estimation	66
 3.4.1 Sample size calculation 3.4.2 Recruitment Process 3.4.3 Results 3.4.4 Regression Analyses 3.4.5 Multiple Imputation Analyses 	66 68 69 81 91
3.5 Discussion	
 3.5.1 Effects of simultaneous multi-limb RIPC on PMI 3.5.2 The effect of anaesthetic regime used in cardiac surgery 3.5.3 ERRICA trial 3.5.4 The Effect of Diabetes. 	99 102 103 111
Chapter 4	
4.1 Summary and future considerations	
4.2 Limitations	116
References	117

Annex: Patient Information Sheet 129

List of Figures:

Figure Number	Title	Page
Figure 1	Overall survival after random allocation to medical treatment or coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG).	19
Figure 2	Comparison between CABG and PCI with regards to all-cause mortality, myocardial infarction, stroke, death or stroke or myocardial infarction, repeat revascularisation, MACCE.	20
Figure 3	Mechanisms implicated in the pathogenesis of lethal IRI.	35
Figure 4	Glyceryl trinitrate chemical formula	50
Figure 5	Trial design and flow.	59
Figure 6	Recruited patients flow.	69
Figure 7	Trial's intervention flow.	70
Figure 8	Continuous variables.	72
Figure 9	The graphical representation of the MEAN Areas under the curves under each treatment group (using the complete data).	79
Figure 10	AUC using histogram and normal Q-Q plot.	80
Figure 11	Log transferred AUC.	80
Figure 12	ANOVA regression analysis.	82
Figure 13	Normality of data is achieved after multiple imputation.	92
Figure 14	The graphical representation of the mean areas under the curve using imputed data	93

List of Tables:

Table	Title	Page
Number		
1.3.1	Perioperative complications	23
1.3.2	EuroSCORE mortality risk prediction algorithm in patients undergoing cardiac surgery	25
1.3.3	Peri-operative mortality risk undergoing cardiac surgery based on additive EuroSCORE	26
1.3.4	Major studies investigating the prognostic value of raised troponin post-cardiac surgery	31
1.9.6.1	Selection of clinical studies investigating the effects of RIPC in CABG	49
1.9.6.2	Major clinical studies investigating RIPC and valve surgery	50
2.1.1	The relationship between raised TnT and PMI	56
3.4.3.1	Continuous variables (N, Mean, SD)	71
3.4.3.2	Ethnicity	72
3.4.3.3	Binary variables on sex and comorbidities (Percentage, N)	73
3.4.3.4	Binary variables on medication at time of treatment (Percentage, N)	75
3.4.3.5	Cardioplegia technique	76
3.4.3.6	Intermittent cross-clamp fibrillation	76
3.4.3.7	Tropnin values at each time point	76

3.4.3.8	Troponin T statistical summary according to treatment group	77
3.4.3.9	Complete data available to calculate AUC	78
3.4.3.10	AUC for all groups	79
3.4.4.1	Log-transformed AUC (larea)/linear regression model	84
3.4.4.2	Pairwise comparisons of marginal linear predictions with exponentiated coefficients and confidence intervals	84
3.4.4.3	Regression analyses only for log-transformed TroponinT values at 6 hours controlling for baseline values	86
3.4.4.4	Regression analyses only for log-transformed TroponinT values at 12 hours controlling for baseline values	87
3.4.4.5	Regression analyses only for log-transformed TroponinT values at 24 hours controlling for baseline values	88
3.4.4.6	Regression analyses only for log-transformed TroponinT values at 48 hours controlling for baseline values	89
3.4.5.1	Multiple imputation analyses	91
3.4.5.2	Imputed data AUC not showing any significant interaction	93
3.4.5.3	Pairwise comparisons not showing any significant interaction	94
3.4.5.4	Replication analysis looking at 6 hours in the complete data analysis	94
3.4.5.5	Replication analysis looking at 12 hours in the complete data analysis	95

3.4.5.6	Replication analysis looking at 24 hours in the complete data analysis	96
3.4.5.7	Replication analysis looking at 48 hours in the complete data analysis	97
3.5.3.1	Retrospective analysis of the ERRICA trial database examining the clinical outcomes between patients with and without intra-operative IV GTN	105
3.5.3.2	Comparison showing the clinical outcomes between those with and without baseline oral nitrates or IV GTN	106
3.5.3.3	The clinical outcomes divided into four groups depending on whether IV GTN or RIC was administered	107
3.5.3.4	Clinical outcomes between the groups that received RIC or sham, stratified by those with or without baseline oral nitrate or intra-operative IV GTN	108
3.5.3.5	ERIC-GTN patients recruited at UCLH NHS Trust and their distribution among the trial's four arms	110
3.5.3.6	ERIC-GTN patients recruited at Bart's NHS Trust and their distribution among the trial's four arms	110

Abbreviations:

Abbreviation	Full Term	Page
GTN	Glyceryl trinitrate	1
CABG	Cardiac artery bypass surgery	2
IV	Intravenous	2
PMI	Perioperative myocardial injury.	2
RIPC	Remote ischaemic preconditioning	2
ERICCA	Effect of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning and Outcomes of Cardiac Surgery	2
RIPHeart	Remote ischaemic preconditioning for heart surgery trial	2
AUC	Area under the curve	3
VD	Three-vessel diseases	18
IHD	Ischaemic heart disease	18
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention	18
MACCE	Major adverse cardiac and cerebrovascular events	19
ICCF	Intermittent cross-clamp fibrillation	21
MI	Myocardial infarction	23
ECG	Electrocardiogram	24
IMA	Internal mammary artery	24
LAD	Left antero-descending artery	24
LV	Left ventricle	25
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction	25
СРВ	Cardio-pulmonary bypass	27

ROS	Reactive oxygen species	27
VF	Ventricular fibrillation	27
IRI	Myocardial ischaemic reperfusion injury	28
STEMI	ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction	28
cTnT	Cardiac troponin	30
ml	Millilitre	31
RISK	Reperfusion injury salvage kinase	32
NO	Nitric oxide	33
mPTP	Mitochondrial permeability transition pore	34
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate	35
IP	Ischaemic preconditioning	36
SAFE	Survivor activator factor enhancement	37
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate	38
L-NAME	L-nitro-arginine methyl ester	40
CGRP	Calcitonin gene-related peptide	41
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor	42
SDF	Stromal-derived factor	42
DM	Diabetes mellitus	43
КАТР	ATP-sensitive potassium channel	44
RIPerC	Remote ischaemic per-conditioning	45
RIPostC	Remote ischaemic post-conditioning	45
CK-MB	Creatine kinase-muscle/brain	45
HDL	High-density lipoproteins	45

LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase	45
PIS	Patient information sheet	58
NHS	National health services	59
UCLH	University College London Hospitals	60
MAP	Mean arterial pressure	60
IMP	Investigation medicinal product	61
SPC	Summary of product characteristics	61
ICU	Intensive care unit	62
BP	Blood pressure	63
TOE	Transoesophageal echo	64
TTE	Transthoracic echo	64
AKI	Acute kidney injury	65
ITU	Intensive therapy unit	65
AF	Atrial fibrillation	66
CRF	Case report form	68
TMF	Trial main file	68
SD	Standard deviation	70
N	Number	71
BMI	Body mass index	71
HT	Height	71
WT	Weight	71
HTN	Hypertension	73
TIA	Transient ischaemic attack	73
PAD	Peripheral arterial disease	74

β-Blocker	Beta Blocker	75
Ca-Blocker	Calcium channel blocker	75
ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme	75
Max	Maximum	76
Min	Minimum	76
OBS	Observation	76
TnT-hs	Troponin T highly sensitive	77
Q-Q Plot	Quantile-quantile plot	80
Conf. Interval	Confidence interval	84
MCAR	Missing completely at random	91
LCx	Left circumflex	99
BNP	Brain natriuretic peptide	102
MV	Mitral valve	102

CHAPTER 1

1.1 Epidemiology of Coronary Artery Disease

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death worldwide. The World Health Organisation has estimated that 2.3 million deaths per year are due to ischaemic heart disease (IHD) (1). Cardiovascular disease accounted for 17.5 million deaths in 2012 (2), of which 7.4 million were due to IHD while 6.7 million were a result of stroke. This corresponds to 13.2% and 11.9%, respectively, of the total number of deaths in the world (3).

Revascularisation, with either percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) or coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery, is the treatment of choice for IHD due to coronary artery disease. The choice of treatment depends mainly on the clinical presentation, symptoms, coronary anatomy, co-morbidities, concomitant medications, prognostic values and patient preference (4).

A review by Sipahi et al. suggested the superiority of CABG over PCI when it comes to long term mortality, myocardial infarction, and repeat revascularisation (5). The SYNergy between percutaneous coronary intervention with TAXus and cardiac surgery (SYNTAX) study (6) aimed to assess the optimum revascularisation treatment for patients with *de novo* 3 vessel disease (VD) or left main (LM) disease (either isolated or in combination with 1, 2, or 3 VD) by randomising patients to either PCI with polymer-based, paclitaxel-eluting TAXUS stents or CABG (6). Meta-analysis by Yusuf et al (4) with a total of 2649 patients showed a reduction in mortality following CABG operation. However; this was not apparent in the first three years of follow-up. After that, risk reduction was significant at 5,7, and 10 years as shown in Figure 1.

Data produced by the 5-year SYNTAX study demonstrated that CABG remains the standard of care for patients with complex coronary disease, driven by favourable rates of MACCE, cardiac death, myocardial infarction, and repeat revascularisation in the CABG group compared with the PCI group. A 5 years follow-up by Mohr et al.(7) showed Kaplan-Meier estimates of MACCE were 26.9% in the CABG group and 37.3% in the PCI group (p<0.0001) as demonstrated in Figure 2. The authors concluded that CABG should remain the standard care for patients with intermediate or high Syntax score, while for patients with less complex disease (low syntax score) or left main coronary disease (low or intermediate SYNTAX scores), PCI would be an alternative option.



Figure 1. Overall survival after random allocation to medical treatment or coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery (8)



Figure 2. Comparison of CABG and PCI with regards to all-cause mortality, myocardial infarction, stroke, death or stroke or myocardial infarction, repeat revascularisation, MACCE (7) Kaplan-Meier cumulative event curves at five-year follow-up.

Any effort to reduce the risk of morbidity and mortality associated with revascularisation is welcomed. In that field, many strategies have been developed including cardioplegia, intermittent cross-clamp fibrillation, bypass machines and improved peri-operative and post-operative care.

1.2 Myocardial preservation techniques

Since the first successful open heart surgery using a cardiopulmonary bypass machine performed by Dr John H. Gibbon, the issue of myocardial protection has been recognised as a crucial element in preserving myocardial function perioperatively, and soon became critical in operation success and patient survival.

Many advances have been achieved in this field. Among them is the technique of aortic cross-clamping, which was introduced to ensure a dry operative field. This also causes global ischaemia, however, albeit transient, which is associated with significant peri-operative myocardial injury (PMI). This led to poorer patient outcomes, so the concept of cardioprotection and PMI emerged as important areas of research.

The first effort to try and protect the heart during CABG surgery was the use of hypothermia (9, 10), but it was soon replaced by "cardioplegic" solutions which were able to induce cardiac arrest due to high concentrations of potassium. However, it was soon evident that myocardial injury using this technique was an issue (11), so it was replaced by hypothermic arrest with continuous coronary perfusion. This was further improved by the induction of ventricular fibrillation, which uses an alternating current to achieve cardiac standstill. It was soon found, however, that this method caused subendocardial ischaemia due to an increase in left ventricular end-diastolic pressure during perfusion; therefore, it was used in combination with intermittent cross-clamping of the aorta, which itself caused transient global ischaemia of the myocardium (12). The resulting technique was termed intermittent cross-clamp fibrillation (ICCF) (13).

A new interest in the cardioplegia technique started to emerge in the 1970s. However, a new form of cardioplegia has since been developed due to the significant myocardial damage caused by the previous method of ICCF, including hypothermia,

normothermia, crystalloid and blood cardioplegia. The development of St. Thomas cardioplegic solution was particularly notable as, while it allows clear visualisation of the surgical field, it also promotes slow recovery of the myocardium and aerobic metabolism, which encourages lactate production and myocardial injury.

Crystalloid solutions contain a high concentration of potassium, a buffer solution such as amino acid and bicarbonate, oncotic agents such as mannitol plus low or high calcium contents.

On the other hand, blood cardioplegia solutions consist of blood and crystalloid solutions at a ratio of 4:1, with high potassium and low calcium concentrations to allow cardioplegia and prevent cardiomyocyte apoptosis and necrosis (14), and glucose to avoid myocardial oedema (15). This gives blood cardioplegia the advantage in cardioprotection due to the ability of these solutions to accelerate the recovery of the myocardium and thus aerobic metabolism, and reduce perfusion damage (15, 16).

However, despite the significant advances in cardioprotection techniques, the PMI sustained during open heart surgery is still substantial, due to the imperfections of the methods mentioned above and the change in the profile of patients requiring these types of operations, who usually have multiple chronic conditions that contribute to the sustained PMI.

1.3 Short and long-term complications in patients undergoing cardiac surgery

Recently, it was noted that the profile of patients undergoing open-heart surgeries is becoming more complicated. Concomitant chronic disease such as diabetes and hypertension, more complex coronary artery disease and associated valve conditions could significantly increase the risk of surgery (17).

Perioperative complications are summarised in the following table:

Myocardial dysfunction	 Acute spasm or occlusion of grafts, prosthetic or paraprosthetic valve regurgitation Cardiac tamponade, pneumothorax, haemothorax. Inadequate preload, excessive afterload, impaired ventricular function Tachy-Brady arrhythmia Perioperative myocardial infarction (MI)
Vasodilatory shock	 Systemic inflammatory response to ischaemia and reperfusion Reaction to the cardioplegic solution
Haematological pathologies	Thrombus or bleeding due to platelet dysfunction, heparin residue or incomplete haemostasis
Pulmonary dysfunction	 Pleural effusion Atelectasis Pneumonia Diaphragmatic incompetence Intubation issues
Neurological pathologies	 Cerebro-vascular accident Transient ischaemic attack
Renal Dysfunction.	Impaired kidney function which could be transient or permanent
Mortality	• Approximately 1% for low risk and 2-5% for the rest of the patients (18, 19)

Table 1.3.1 Perioperative Complications

Multiple factors influence the outcome of open-heart surgery, these factors include:

- **Case Volume**: studies have shown that the higher the volume of cases performed per year by the cardiothoracic centre, the lower the mortality rate, especially among high-risk patients (20, 21).
- **Surgeon experience:** which is independent of the volume of cases a centre would perform but directly correlated with it (22).
- **LV function**: Poor LV function is associated with a 6% increase in the mortality rate (23).

- Age: As more elderly patients are being operated on, there is a higher inhospital mortality risk associated with the procedure (24).
- Acute Kidney Injury: Post-operative kidney function deterioration has been shown to be a significant predictor of both mortality and morbidity (25). Also, the mortality rate was shown to be significantly higher in patients requiring renal replacement therapy post-operative compared to patients who did not need such treatment (26).
- **Chronic kidney disease**: which is associated with both short- and long-term post-operative mortality (27, 28).
- The presence of Q waves on ECG: where Long-term survival is adversely affected by the appearance of new postoperative Q waves (29).
- Type of arterial grafting and coronary artery diameter: The use of arterial grafts such as IMA has been associated with a significant reduction in the rate of hospital stay and long-term mortality (30, 31). Also, the patient with a relatively small diameter of their coronary arteries, especially their LAD, could increase their peri-operative risk (32).
- Other rare complications: which could affect the peri-operative mortality in patients undergoing CABG, including gastrointestinal (33), metabolic (34) and haematological (35).

These risk factors have proven crucial in developing formulas capable of predicting mortality risks in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. This enabled both surgeons and patients to weigh the benefits and risks before making an informed decision regarding whether the procedure would be too risky to proceed or not. The EuroSCORE is an example of these prediction tools. It is widely used in Europe and has recently been adopted worldwide (36). An updated version of EuroSCORE was released in 2011 (37).

Predictor	Definition	
Age	Per 5 years or part thereof over 60 years	
Sex	Female	
Chronic pulmonary disease	disease Long-term use of bronchodilators or steroids	
Extracardiac arteriopathy	hy Anyone or more of the following: Claudication, carotid occlusion or >50% stenosis, previous or planned intervention on the abdominal aorta, limb arteries or carotids.	
Neurological dysfunction	Disease affecting ambulation or day to day function	2
Previous cardiac surgery Requiring opening the pericardium		3
Serum creatinine	>200 mmol/L preoperatively	2
Active endocarditis	The patient is still under antibiotic treatment at the time of surgery	3
Critical preoperative state	 Anyone or more of the following: Preoperative cardiac massage Preoperative ventilation before arrival in the anaesthetic room Preoperative inotropic support Intra-aortic balloon Preoperative acute renal failure Ventricular tachycardia or fibrillation 	3
Unstable angina	Resting angina requiring I.V nitrate until arrival at the anaesthetic room.	
LV dysfunction	Moderate or LVEF 30-50%	1
	Poor or LVEF <30%	3
Recent MI	<90 days	

 Table 1.3.2 EuroSCORE mortality risk prediction algorithm in patients undergoing cardiac surgery

Pulmonary hypertension	Systolic pulmonary artery pressure >60mmHg	2
Emergency operation	Carried out on referral before the beginning of next working day	2
Other than isolated CABG	Major cardiac procedure other than or in addition to CABG	2
Surgery on the thoracic aorta	Ascending, arch or descending	3
Post-infarct septal rupture		4

This model could be used as either an additive or logistic risk model: The former could be used to classify patients into high, intermediate or low-risk groups, while the latter is used to calculate the risk of death.

Table 1.3.3 Peri-operative mortality risk undergoing cardiac surgery based on additive
EuroSCORE

EuroSCORE	Risk	Peri-operative
		Mortality
0-2	Low	0.8% (0.56–1.1%)
3-5	Intermediate	3% (2.62–3.51)
>=6	High Risk	11.2% (10.25–12.16)

In our study, we have not been recording the EuroSCORE of patients enrolled in the study which could be one of the limitations of this trial.

1.4 Peri-operative myocardial injury

Described as the damage sustained by the myocardium during an invasive procedure or operation, in the environment of cardiac surgery, it is associated with worsening short- and long-term outcomes (38-40).

Several factors can influence the level of troponin released during open heart surgery.

These factors include:

- 1- Direct damage due to the handling of the heart and other surgical instruments such as the retractor (41).
- 2- Poor surgical technique, resulting in the aorto-coronary bypass grafting as a result of distal anastomosis or poor harvesting method of the saphenous vein (42) and prosthetic valve incompetence due to poor placement.
- 3- Systemic inflammatory response to an exogenous substance in the CPB circuit coming in contact with the patient blood. Other factors which could activate the complement cascade include hypothermia, direct surgical trauma and blood loss. Inflammatory mediator release includes cytokines, chemokines, and ROS, all of which lead to a severe inflammatory reaction, the consumption of coagulation factors, microembolisation and multiple-organ failure (43).
- 4- LV over-distension, especially after CBP, is well-established, leading to retrograde flow to the LV in the presence of AR.
- 5- Coronary athero-embolisation, either due to an intracoronary thrombus or atherosclerotic debris during coronary manipulation.
- 6- Ischaemic injury in the setting of both ICCF and cardioplegia as a consequence of intermittent cross-clamping of the aorta carried out during the attachment of the distal end of the graft. The proximal end, however, is constructed after declamping and therefore during the reperfusion phase. In ICCF, the ischaemic effect is significant due to a combination of global ischaemia caused by cross-clamping and subendocardial ischaemia due to VF caused by reperfusion. In cardioplegia, more significant global ischaemia is noticed due to the longer cross-clamp time, which is mitigated using cellular protecting solutions. The magnitude of PMI in both ICCF and cardioplegia seems to be equal (44, 45).

- 7- Myocardial stunning, causing a reversible contractile dysfunction secondary to reperfusion following ischaemia caused by cross-clamping (46).
- 8- Myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury (IRI): The myocardial damage caused by the restoration of blood flow following a period of prolonged ischaemia. In the context of cardiac surgery, it is the result of cross-clamping, intermittent or continuous administration of the cardioplegic solution, cross-clamp fibrillation or a combination of these procedures (47). IRI is recognised as the most relevant potential cause of PMI in cardiac surgery (41).

It is difficult to differentiate between PMI and MI post-op, known as MI type 5, as the mechanism of injury, so the diagnostic tools are similar in both cases.

Recently, the fourth Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction (48) retains the five types of MI as described in the third Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction (49), though with modifications.

Type 1 MI: Due to acute coronary atherothrombotic myocardial injury with either plaque rupture or erosion and, often, associated thrombosis. Most ST elevation Mi and many non-ST elevation MI patients fit into this category.

Type 2 MI: Includes patients with evidence of myocardial ischaemia but with no acute coronary atherothrombotic injury. It is usually seen as a mismatch in oxygen demand and supply. It is often regarded as an indication of an underlying coronary artery disease. However, the presence of fixed coronary obstruction is not obligatory, including primary coronary causes such as vasospasm, coronary embolus, and coronary artery dissection. Most of these patients would present as NSTEMI rather than STEMI.

Type 3 MI: Describes the concept that certain people have the characteristics symptoms of myocardial ischaemia but without rise in cardiac troponin levels because the patient succumbs before values are measured or who is stricken by sudden death with evidence of MI by autopsy.

Type 4 and Type 5 MI: Both related to procedural events. Both remained unchanged from the third universal definition of MI, However, it is emphasized that an isolated procedural elevation of cardiac troponin values is indicative of cardiac procedural myocardial injury, that does not alone meet the criteria for percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI)-related type 4a MI, or for coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG)-related type 5 MI.

These categories are applied within 48 hours of the procedure and includes detecting an elevation of cardiac troponin level of more than 10 times the 99 percentile the known upper reference limit for PCI, and greater than 10 times the 99 percentile of the known upper limit for CABG, in addition to new evidence of ischaemia in the form of new ECG changes or cardiac imaging features of myocardial ischaemia, or procedural related complication that may have led to reduced coronary blood flow. This is under the assumption that pre-procedural troponin levels were normal. In cases with elevated pre-procedural troponin levels, the post procedural value most rise more than 20% and also must be 5 or 10 times the upper reference limit.

The clinical significance of raised troponin level post-procedures was not very clear (50), but 5 fold increases in post-procedural troponin where baseline troponin levels were normal, was noted to be prognostically significant.(51, 52)

Similar to PMI, peri-procedural (PCI or CABG) injury could be the result of direct trauma as a result of cardiac manipulation or sewing needles, global or regional ischaemia due to inadequate cardiac protection, microvascular events due to reperfusion, myocardial damage caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, or failure to reperfuse areas of the heart that are not subtended by grafts (53, 54).

1.4.1 The identification of PMI following cardiac surgery

Similar to MI, type 5 PMI can be diagnosed using a variety of methods in which the most common, least invasive and affordable strategy would be *ECG changes,* which may be suggestive of MI. *Imaging* was developed to assess the diagnosis, and they include:

a) Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) which demonstrate a reduction in patient ejection fraction, wall motion abnormalities and evidence of late gadolinium enhancement (55).

b) Radionuclide tracers such as Thallium-201 and Technetium-99m MIBI which allow viable myocytes to be directly imaged (56); in particular, ECG-gated Imaging can provide a reliable assessment of the myocardial function (57).

The issue with these methods is that they often fail to detect a subtle degree of myocardial injury which may have essential prognostic relevance (58) and thus, the emergence of cardiac biomarkers has become crucial in understanding and assessing myocardial damage, and its prognosis (59-61).

1.5 Cardiac Troponin

Cardiac troponin T (cTnT) and troponin I (cTnI) are cardiac regulatory proteins that control the calcium-mediated interaction between actin and myosin (62). Troponin (I)

has not been found outside the myocardium (63), while Troponin T is expressed to a lesser extent in the skeletal muscles; however, the current cTnT assay does not measure skeletal troponin (64). Raised troponin concentration is now widely accepted as a standard biochemical marker for myocardial injury (65).

Following myocardial injury, the first troponin release will be between 3 and 5 hours from membrane destruction, with a second release on the 5th subsequent day due to contractile apparatus damage (66).

Multiple studies have investigated the prognostic values of raised troponin levels in the setting of cardiac surgery. Eigel et al. demonstrated that raised troponin levels post-cardiac surgery were associated with worse clinical outcomes. Intriguingly, their data analysis showed that a cut off at cTnl >0.495ng/L was the best predictor of adverse prognosis (67).

Table 1.3.4 Major studies investigating the prognostic value of raised troponin T postcardiac surgery

Trial	Patients recruited and the setting	Outcome
Katherisan.(38) 2004	136 CABG	Troponin T> 1.58ng/ml = 1-year mortality rate predictor
Lehrke (39)	204 CABG	Troponin T>/=0.46 ug/L = 4.9-fold increase
2004		risk of mortality.
Buse (68)	741 CABG	Troponin T> $0.1\mu g/L$ = predictor of 12-
2009		month mortality
Nesher (40)	1918	Troponin T>0.8µg/L = increased MACCE
2008	CABG and/or valve surgery	

Mohammed (59)	847	Troponin T levels associated linearly with
2009	CABG	the length of stay and ventilator hours, and with death, death or heart failure, death or need for vasopressors and the composite of all 3.

1.6 Myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury

The concept of reperfusion injury has been a subject of debate for some time now. Some investigators believe that most of the cellular injury happens during the ischaemic phase, while others argued that restoring blood flow could extend myocardial damage through the release of oxygen-derived free radicals, dysregulation of intracellular and mitochondrial calcium, microvascular dysfunction leading to incomplete return of blood flow to areas of the microcirculation (the no-reflow phenomenon), an exaggerated inflammatory reaction involving influx of various populations of immune cells, and delayed cell death due to apoptosis.(69)

Recently, the concept of reperfusion injury has been supported as several pharmacological agents have shown to attenuate the effect of reperfusion injury if applied during the period of reperfusion, such as adenosine and opioids (70, 71). Also, the introduction of novel cardioprotective phenomena termed "post conditioning" which involves reinstitution of blood flow in a stuttering fashion (72), in clear contrast to the ischaemic pre-conditioning phenomena. Finally, the uncovering of the pro-survival signalling pathway termed the reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK) (73) in the myocardium has supported the concept of reperfusion injury.

Restoring the blood flow to the myocardium following a prolonged period of ischaemia can start a cascade of events which result in injury (47). In the setting of acute MI, successful restoration of reperfusion through thrombolytic therapy or primary PCI can itself induce cardiomyocyte death and increase infarct size. In animal models, it has

been shown that reperfusion injury can account for up to 50% of the final infarct size (47).

The manifestations of reperfusion injury are (74):

- 1. Reperfusion arrhythmias
- 2. Myocardial stunning
- 3. No-reflow phenomenon
- 4. Lethal reperfusion injury (RI)

1.6.1 Reperfusion arrhythmias

These occur particularly following thrombolysis, PPCI or cardiac surgery, and may manifest as an accelerated idioventricular rhythm (75). The pathophysiology behind reperfusion arrhythmia is linked to the loss of permeability of the mitochondrial membranes, which leads to destabilisation of the action potential across the cell membrane, and could result in arrhythmias in turn (75).

1.6.2 Myocardial stunning

This is a transient, reversible phenomenon caused by persistent anaerobic metabolism following reperfusion and oxidative stress (76).

1.6.3 No-reflow phenomenon or microvascular obstruction

Ischaemic insult can activate the platelet and complement cascade, resulting in severe dysfunction of the resting blood flow in the microvasculature within the ischaemic area (76). Terminal complement cascade components cause direct injury to endothelial cells with platelet activation and reduced endothelial production of nitric oxide (NO), subsequent vasoconstriction, diminished microvascular perfusion and tissue necrosis (77).

1.6.4 Lethal reperfusion injury (RI)

This refers to cell death caused by the restoration of blood flow to a tissue or organ subjected to a prolonged period of ischaemia (47).

Several mechanisms have been identified as potential causes of RI in animal models; however, translating this into a clinical setting has proven to be challenging (47), thus raising the question of potential disparities between the two models. Therefore, further laboratory testing and clinical trials are needed to explore this fascinating phenomenon and identify clinical practices and agents that are able to reduce RI and thus reduce clinical outcome for patients with IHD.

The mechanism of the pathogenesis of IRI includes:

1) **Oxygen paradox**: Restoration of blood flow to an ischaemic area would activate the xanthine oxidase enzyme, neutrophils, cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase, and catecholamine oxidation, with subsequent ROS production, cell injury and death (78, 79).

2) **PH paradox**: The normalisation of intracellular PH due to washout of the accumulated lactic acidosis following the restoration of blood flow, in addition to activation of the sodium-hydrogen exchanger and the sodium-bicarbonate exchanger, contributes to lethal RI by inducing the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) opening and myocyte hypercontracture (80).

3) **Calcium paradox**: Following of the restoration of blood flow, calcium concentration increases intracellularly as a consequence of the reverse activity of the calcium-sodium exchanger due to sodium-hydrogen exchanger activation, (81), leading to disproportionate myofibril contracture and subsequent myocyte hypercontracture (82).

4) **Inflammation**: The damaged myocardium causes the release of cytokines and complement components, causing neutrophil activation (83).

O2 Paradox: activation of xanthine oxydase, neutrophils, and subsequent ROS production.

PH paradox :Rapid restoration of intracellular pH induces mPTP opening. Calcium paradox: an increased Intracellular calcium accumulation causes myocyte hypercontracture

Inflammation: Cytokines and activated complement components induce neutrophil activation

Figure 3. Mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of lethal RI

It is clear that understanding the mechanism of RI and its contribution to the outcome following MI is crucial to clinical outcome. It also has an impact on the management plan, besides the prompt restoration of blood flow.

1.6.5 Ischaemic Injury

Ischaemic insults caused by the depletion of oxygen causes a significant reduction in oxidative phosphorylation and progressive ATP depletion and thus, activation of the anaerobic glycolytic pathway, which leads to a decrease in intracellular PH and accumulation and a loss of sodium and potassium (84).

This causes activation of the sodium-hydrogen exchanger, which usually favours sodium import and calcium export which regulates intracellular calcium. However, in ischaemic conditions, the sodium-calcium exchanger activity will be reversed, and the calcium concentration will alter, while sodium will be exported extracellularly. At the same time, and in an attempt to ensure ATP production, the cell uses fatty acids from the cellular and mitochondrial membrane, causing a loss of membrane integrity and further sodium concentration intracellularly. This would worsen the failure of intracellular components and contribute to the transition from reversible to irreversible processes, leading to the initiation of cell necrosis (85). The loss of mitochondrial membrane integrity also induces the intracellular release of enzymes, including cytochromes, caspase and proteolytic enzymes, which are ultimately responsible for cellular apoptosis and autophagy (84, 85).

1.7 Ischaemic Preconditioning (IP)

Several mechanisms have been identified by which the myocardium becomes more resistant to fatal ischaemic injury. These mechanisms include the development of coronary collaterals vessels, myocardium stunning and hibernation, and, crucially, ischaemic preconditioning (IPC) and postconditioning (IPost) (86). Murry et al. first introduced the concept of IPC in 1986 (87), reporting a 75% reduction in infarct size in dogs subjected to four-five minute regional myocardial ischaemia episodes, each followed by a five minute period of reperfusion, before a prolonged period of ischaemia. The cardioprotection induced by IPC has been confirmed in many other studies (88, 89). The same effect has also been noticed in other organs such as the kidneys (90), brain (91), and lungs (92).

Two periods of protection following the insult have been identified: The first is labelled as the "early" or "classic preconditioning period" and is defined as the period immediately following the insult. This period wears off in 1-2 hours (93). A delayed and less protective period is known as the "second window of protection", after 12-24 hours, and can last for up to 72 hours (94).
1.8 Mechanisms of IPC

The production of mediators constitutes the first step in the mechanism of IPC. Potential mediators which have been identified include adenosine (95, 96), opioids (97), acetylcholine (98), catecholamines (99), angiotensin II (100), bradykinin (101), and ROS (102). These multiple mediators bind to specific cell receptors including G-Protein coupled receptor (GPCR) for adenosine (96), bradykinin (101), opioids (103), angiotensin II (100) and other mediators, and growth-factor receptors for insulin, insulin-like growth factor, transforming growth factor, fibroblast growth factor, granulocyte colony stimulating factor, erythropoietin and adipocytokines (73). Other non-receptor-mediated pathways have been described which are involved in IPC triggering, such as heat and stretch (73).

Following receptor activation, a cascade of intracellular transduction pathways activates several pro-survival protein kinases, such as reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK) (73), and survivor activator factor enhancement (SAFE) (104), which ultimately lead to inhibition of the opening of the mPTP (105), which leads to the production of anti-necrotic, anti-apoptotic and anti-autophagic effects, thereby reducing cardiomyocyte death (73). The mPTP is a nonspecific high conductance channel situated in the inner mitochondrial membrane, which remains closed during ischaemia and opens in the first few minutes of reperfusion (106).

The opening of the mPTP causes 1) the influx of water and solutes to the mitochondria causing rupture of the outer mitochondrial membrane, the release of intermembrane cytochrome C and the initiation of cell apoptosis and necrosis (107, 108), and 2) the uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation, leading to ATP hydrolysis, progressive ATP depletion, the collapse of the mitochondrial membrane potential and cardiomyocyte death (107, 108).

The mPTP is known to form F0F1 ATP synthetase (complex V), which in turn synthesises the vast majority of ATP on the inner membrane of the mitochondria, and binds magnesium and ADP/ATP in the presence of low calcium concentrations (109). However, in ischaemic events, the concentration of calcium would increase and cyclophilin-D in the mitochondrial matrix binds to the lateral stalk of complex V, causing formational changes that are responsible for mPTP formation. Interestingly, cyclosporin-A prohibits mPTP opening by preventing cyclophilin-D from binding to F0F1 dimers (110), and also promotes LV recovery, ATP preservation, and MI reduction when given at reperfusion (111). It is understandable that the mPTP would become a central target specifically in understanding the mechanism that is able to prevent the formation of mPTP, thus preventing myocardial cell death (112).

Other significant contributors are the sodium-hydrogen exchanger which reduces swelling and intracellular calcium accumulation (113).

1.9 Remote Ischaemic Preconditioning

Remote ischaemic preconditioning (RIPC) describes the phenomenon by which brief episodes of sub-lethal ischaemia and reperfusion to one organ tissue can reduce IRI in a target organ tissue that is some distance from it (114). Described by Przyklenk et al., this intriguing concept was first introduced through an experiment where anaesthetised dogs with brief occlusions in one myocardial vessel also showed limited infarct size and/or attenuated contractile dysfunction in remote "virgin" myocardium subjected to subsequent sustained coronary occlusion (114). Dogs were subjected to four episodes of 5-minute circumflex (Cx) occlusion and 5-minute reperfusion, followed by 1 hour of sustained LAD occlusion and 4.5 hours of reflow. Infarct size was significantly reduced (63%) in Cx-preconditioned dogs compared to controls. It also

indicated that the protective mechanism could be activated and transported through the heart during the ischaemia/reperfusion period (114).

Subsequent trials showed that RIPC could be elicited when the stimulus is applied to an organ away from the myocardium (115), such as the kidneys (116), intestine (117) and skeletal muscle (118, 119), therefore giving rise to the concept of inter-organ RIPC.

Interestingly, the discovery that RIPC can be elicited through skeletal muscle stimulus led to the broad application of this type of RIPC in humans and clinical settings. Birnbaum et al. (118) were the first group to apply RIPC to an animal model hind limb, where anaesthetised rabbits were randomised into four groups: 1) 30 minute waiting period (controls), 2) 55% to 65% reduction of femoral artery flow (stenosis), 3) electrical stimulation of the gastrocnemius muscle at a rate of one per second, 4) stenosis plus stimulation. This was followed by 30 minutes of coronary artery occlusion and 4 hours of reperfusion. The trial showed that the ratio of infarct size/risk zone was significantly smaller in the stenosis plus stimulation groups.

Oxman et al. (119) were the first to apply a non-invasive method of preconditioning stimulus. In their rat model, ischaemia was induced in the hind limbs by using a tourniquet for 10 minutes followed by a period of reperfusion. The trial showed a significant reduction in reperfusion arrhythmias in the preconditioned group. This trial demonstrated the clinical application of non-invasive cardioprotection, which opened the door for a vast number of human trials and applications to make use of this intriguing phenomenon.

1.9.1 Mechanisms of RIPC

Several experiments have been conducted in recent decades to identify the mechanisms underlying RIPC. Most of these trials were exploring the following targets:

- The mechanism triggered by precondition stimulus in the remote tissue.
- The transmission pathway of the protective stimulus from the distal organ tissue to the target organ.
- The cellular mechanism by which the stimulus can confer protection.

1.9.2 Generation of the cardioprotective stimulus in the preconditioned remote organ/tissue

Despite numerous attempts to understand this mechanism through multiple trials, both lab-based and via clinical research, we are still far from understanding the specific mechanism triggered by preconditioning at the target tissue or organ. However, it is generally agreed that a period of IR releases various substances from the ischaemic tissue (120). It has been shown through different studies that multiple mediators, mechanisms, and stimuli are involved at different sites of stimulus (121).

In cardioprotection induced by skeletal muscle, opioids have been shown to play a vital role. In their study, Lu et al. assigned rats randomly to 1 of 7 treatment groups. The morphine and RIPC groups significantly reduced the infarct size compared with the control group. Interestingly, in the group which received RIPC, morphine and naloxone, infarct size was not affected (122).

NO was also shown to be another critical RIPC potential mediator. Chen et al. demonstrated that the protective effect of RIPC in the hind limb of rats was abolished by the NO-synthase antagonist L-nitro-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME) (123). Subsequently, Chen et al. also confirmed the involvement of ROS in skeletal muscle

RIPC by showing that the myocardial protective effects in rats were associated with the increased activity of superoxidase dismutase and glutathione peroxidase, and could be abolished by mercaptopropionyl-glycine, a free radical scavenger (124). Calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) was also found to be involved in early and late conditioning (125).

Adenosine has also been shown to be a potential mediator in cardioprotection by renal ischaemia. This was demonstrated through the abrogation of protective effects in the presence of adenosine receptor antagonists (126), and the increased blood levels of adenosine in preconditioned rabbits (127) and knockout mice (128).

These mediators, once released following IR stimulus from remote tissues or organs, are able to transfer the signal to a distant and target tissue/organ through an as yet not fully understood mechanism. Three main pathways have been identified which could play a part in this process: neural pathway, hormonal pathway, and systemic inflammatory response (120).

In an intriguing experiment, Gho et al. (129) demonstrated that brief ischaemia episodes in remote organs/tissue could protect the myocardium just as effectively as myocardial preconditioning, through transient episodes of anterior mesenteric artery occlusion or left renal artery occlusion, However:

- Transient but not continuous mesenteric occlusion enhanced cardioprotection, suggesting that a period of wash-out is needed for the suggested humoral factor to be produced, and then transmitted to the target tissue/organ.
- The administration of the ganglion blocker hexamethonium abrogated the cardioprotective effects of transient mesenteric ischaemia, giving rise to the possibility of the involvement of a neuronal component.

The **neural pathway** theory suggests that mediators are produced in the distal tissue/ organ, which activate a neural pathway which terminates on the heart (120). On the other hand, the **hormonal theory** stipulates that the ischaemic insult in the remote tissue/organ leads to the formation of mediators locally, which are then released into the circulation, and finally reach the target organ/tissue, possibly during the washout period (120).

The hormonal theory was further supported by Konstantinov (130) and Kristiansen (131), who found that previously preconditioned explanted (and therefore denervated) hearts could be protected against prolonged ischaemia in rats.

However, and in contrast to Gho et al. (129), Wang et al. demonstrated that hexamethonium did not abolish cardioprotection induced by mesenteric ischaemia (132), while Dickson's group "identified" norepinephrine as a potential mediator of RIPC (133). Several studies tried to identify the character of the potential hormonal mediator as a thermolabile, hydrophobic substance with a molecular weight between 3.5 KDa (134) and 15 KDa (135). Other potential humoral factors have been identified as erythropoietin by Diwan et al. (136). Stromal-derived factor-1 (SDF-1 α or CXCL12) has been recently linked to cardioprotective activity in mice (137). Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) (116) and angiotensin-I (138) have been also investigated as potential humoral factors.

Several other studies have supported Gho's observation that cardioprotection could be blocked by hexamethonium (139, 140). The effort by Ding et al. showed the role of the renal nerve in cardioprotection induced by renal preconditioning (141). Interestingly, the activation of the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus nerve has been

shown to induce cardioprotection, even in the absence of the remote preconditioning stimulus in the skeletal muscle (142).

In addition, bradykinin, adenosine, and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) have all been linked to the neural mechanism of RIPC. A higher level of these substances has been reported in preconditioned organs (140, 143). Moreover, they activate the afferent branch of the neural pathway, which is ultimately responsible for the cardioprotective effect. These substances also activate intracellular preconditioning pathways such as A1, BK2, δ 1-opioid, k-opioid and angiotensin 1-receptors, which all belong to the GPCR family (120). Crucially, Jensen et al. (144) demonstrated that an interaction between neural (vagal) and hormonal pathways is essential for RIPC. Their trial showed that MI size in isolated naïve rabbit hearts could be reduced by the plasma dialysate obtained by RIPC-treated patients, with or without diabetes mellitus (DM), and without sensory neuropathy, but not by RIPC-treated diabetics with sensory neuropathy.

The systemic anti-inflammatory response is another potential mechanism to explain RIPC signal transmission. This was first proposed by Peralta et al. (145) who demonstrated that hepatic RIPC could produce an anti-inflammatory effect through modulation of the myocardial gene transcription profile with P-selectin up-regulation inhibition, which could ultimately reduce neutrophil migration and oxidative stress and therefore produce the anti-apoptotic effect. This concept was further confirmed via multiple trials including various organs such as the lungs (146) and myocardium (147), and also in human trials (148).

It is feasible that all three mechanisms are responsible for the RIPC effect, as no single mechanism has been fully accepted as being behind it. It is likely that pathways coexist and interact to deliver the final impact of RIPC (120).

1.9.3 Intracellular signal transduction pathways and end-effectors of RIPC

Studies have demonstrated that PKC activation may mediate the effect of RIPC and that PKC blockers could abolish the same effect (132, 149). In particular, isoform PKCε may be responsible for signal transduction followed by bradykinin BK2 (149) and CGRP (150) receptor stimulators. The mito-KATP channel has been shown to have a role in the signalling pathway, as blockers such as the 5-hydroxytryptamine (5HD) blocker abrogated its effect (126). Interestingly, glibenclamide has been shown to block the impact of RIPC and remote ischaemic post-conditioning.(151) Additionally, ROS may also have a significant role in the transduction of the stimulus, as demonstrated by Weinbrenner et al. (152). The RISK pathway involves the prosurvivor protein kinase family, in which the main components are PI3K/Akt and Erk1/2, which may play an essential role in RIPC; this has been demonstrated by the inhibition of p38, Erk1/2 and JNK1/2, which caused the abrogation of cardioprotection following mesenteric preconditioning (153). Also, Erk1/2 stimulation seems to be important in limb preconditioning for both rabbits and humans, as demonstrated by Shimizu et al. (154).

A crucial factor that plays a significant role in RIPC is the end-effector, mPTP. The mPTP has been shown to be the downstream target for mito-KATP activation (155) and the RISK pathway (156). Interestingly, Cao et al. (157) has demonstrated that RIPC cardioprotection was attenuated by the use of the mPTP activator atractyloside and was increased by the use of the mPTP inhibitor cyclosporin A.

1.9.4 Clinical applications of RIPC

Once it was established that animal myocardium could be protected against IRI via transient hind limb IR (118, 119), the clinical translation of this significant discovery was crucial. Two critical features of RIPC were important in transferring it into the clinical setting: 1) **Feasibility**: the finding that a non-invasive technique could result in a reduction of IRI by merely inflating/deflating a blood pressure cough on human volunteers heralded the application of RIPC into several clinical applications (158); and 2) **Flexibility**: The main limitation of IPC is that it has to be applied at a specific time, i.e. before the ischaemic phase and at the onset of the reperfusion phase, and directly to the heart; on the other hand, the remote conditioning stimulus can be applied before (RIPC), after the onset of (RIPerC) or at the end of (RIPostC) ischaemia and to an organ distant from the heart (159).

The first clinical trial investigating the effect of RIPC on the myocardium was conducted by Gunaydin et al. (160) in patients undergoing CABG. The RIPC was applied using a tourniquet around the arm of the patient for 3 minutes followed by a reperfusion period for 2 minutes. This cycle was repeated twice. Markers of PMI were CK-MB and LDH, which were measured before CPB, prior to de-clamping of the aorta and 5 minutes after de-clamping of the aorta. The results showed higher levels of HDL at the second point only, but it is worth mentioning that the trial was underpowered as the team only recruited eight patients. MacAllister's group (158), however, came up with another interesting method to apply RIPC, in which a blood pressure cuff was inflated to 200mmHg on the patient's upper limb. The cuff was inflated for 5 minutes followed by a period of reperfusion. This cycle would be repeated five times before a period of prolonged ischaemia in the contralateral arm through a blood pressure cuff inflated to 200mmHG for 20 minutes. This resulted in an increased response to

acetylcholine in the forearm subjected to prolonged ischaemia as demonstrated by venous plethysmography.

This application of a simple, non-invasive, risk-free technique signalled a new era in research into the potential clinical benefits of RIPC through transient limb IR in the setting of cardiac surgery in the first instance, and more recently, in other settings such as PPCI and non-cardiac surgery. This has been more correctly defined as RIPC as the inflation and deflation of the blood pressure cuff takes place after the onset of ischaemic insult (159), while the stimulus would be called remote ischaemic postconditioning if it was applied at the time of myocardial reperfusion (159).

1.9.5 RIPC and Cardiac Surgery

Following the milestone trial by MacAllister's group (158), Cheung et al. (161) first applied the concept of RIPC with limb IR to the clinical setting, in 17 children who underwent corrective congenital heart disease operations, where RIPC was induced through 4 cycles of 5-minute inflation of a blood pressure cuff applied to the lower limb, followed by 5 minutes of deflation. This showed a reduction in postoperative levels of cTnT, inotropic requirements at 3 and 6 hours, and airway resistance.

The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute at UCL showed for the first time that adult patients undergoing elective CABG surgery and receiving three 5-minute cycles of upper arm IR sustained a significantly lower magnitude of PMI than control patients (162). The relationship between RIPC and cardiac surgery has been investigated extensively, regardless of whether the surgery was in the form of CABG, valve surgery or a combination (Tables 1.9.6.1 and 1.9.6.2). Although most of these trials confirmed the cardioprotective effect of RIPC, several RCTs been neutral, the reasons for which are discussed in Chapter 3.

1.9.6 Drawbacks of the clinical trials of RIPC in cardiac surgery

Matching the animal models with clinical trials has proven to be a challenge, as animal models are subjected to myocardial IRI by direct ligature of the coronary artery, while the majority of studies on RIPC in a clinical setting have been conducted in the context of elective cardiac surgery, where the levels of myocardial damage are expected to be on a magnitude where the clinical benefits from RIPC is usually too small to detect(163). Also, in animal models, no pre-existing conditions are usually taken into consideration, while most CAD patients would have a number of pre-existing conditions such as hypertension, diabetes and hypercholesterolaemia, which may all interact with RIPC (this will be discussed in Chapter 3). Interestingly, it has been demonstrated that patients often suffer pre-infarction angina, which is secondary to transient ischaemia and could, therefore, act as a preconditioning stimulus before an MI. There is now clear evidence that patients who experience angina before their MI do better clinically (164, 165). In this case, a question could be raised as to whether RIPC could add any benefit to an already "preconditioned" myocardium.

Patients recruited to these RCTs are usually on a number of medications, such as anti-diabetic agents, insulin, nitrates and many would receive other agents as part of their in-hospital treatment such as morphine, GTN and clopidogrel. They may receive further agents during surgery, such as propofol, GTN and opioids (comprising morphine and fentanyl). It is worth noting that these agents have been known to mimic IPC (166), and it would be feasible that RIPC would not add further benefit. Furthermore, different surgical techniques in CABG could lead to varying degrees of myocardial damage which are generally represented by cardiac markers (i.e., Troponin I or T) (167).

Other crucial elements of differentiation exist amongst the clinical studies include:

- Type of operation, CABG alone or valve alone or a combination of both, with the subsequent magnitude of PMI sustained.
- The technique of myocardial preservation, whether it is ICCF or cardioplegia.
- The anaesthetic regime used.
- The protective stimulus: The preconditioning stimulus, its timing (before versus after surgical incision), the way it is delivered, and a number of cycles may have a significant effect on the outcome. For instance; in Rahman et al. (168), the RIPC stimulus comprised of three 5-minute cycles of upper-limb 9-cm cuff inflation to 200 mm Hg separated by 5-minute periods of cuff deflation. It is worth mentioning that several trials have failed to demonstrate a significant reduction in PMI using this standard single limb RIPC stimulus, suggesting that this RIPC stimulus may be ineffective in specific settings; based on that, we have chosen to use a simultaneous multi-limb preconditioning stimulus to maximise the effect of RIPC in our trial.
- In most cases, the trial's endpoint was PMI measured by troponin or CK-MB release at specific time-points, either as a peak or mean concentration or as a total post-operative AUC. This outcome was associated with short- and long-term morbidity and mortality. However, this represents a surrogate and stronger clinical outcome would be needed to evaluate the effect accurately.

Trial Group	Type of Surgery	Number Recruited	RIPC Stimulus	Myocardial preservation	Myocardial Injury
Hausenloy (162)	Elective CABG	57	Upper- limb ischaemia (3 cycles of 5-min)	Cold-blood cardioplegia and ICCF	Reduced AUC of cTnT (43%)
Rahman (168)	Elective CABG	162	Upper- limb ischaemia (3 cycles of 5-min)	Cold-blood cardioplegia	No difference in cTnT.
Hong (169)	Elective CABG	130	Upper- limb ischaemia (4 cycles of 5-min)	Off-pump	No significant difference in AUC of cTnl
Kottenberg (170)	Elective CABG	72	Upper- limb ischaemia (3 cycles of 5-min)	Cold crystalloid cardioplegia	Reduction of cTnI AUC only when RIPC given with isoflurane and not propofol
Thielmann (171)	Elective CABG	329	Upper- limb ischaemia (3 cycles of 5 min)	Cold crystalloid cardioplegia	Reduce AUC of cTnl. Reduce all- cause mortality

Table 1.9.6.1 Selection of clinical studies investigating the effects of RIPC in CABG

Trial Group	Type of surgery	Number recruited	RIC stimulus	Myocardium Preservation	Myocardial Injury
Xie (172)	Elective	73	Upper-limb ischaemia (3x5-min)	Cold blood cardioplegia	44% reduction in TnI AUC
Choi (173)	Complex	76	Lower limb ischaemia (3 x 10-min)	Blood cardioplegia	Significant CK-MB reduction at 24 hours only
Wu (174)	MVR	75	Limb ischaemia pre-conditioning (LIPC-1). LIPC-II (3 x 5 cycles of upper arm ischaemia) plus 2 x 10-min cycles of upper leg ischaemia)		

Table 1.9.6.2 Major clinical studies investigating RIPC and valve surgery

1.10 Glyceryl Trinitrate

Glyceryl trinitrate is a potent vasodilator, used for over 120 years to treat angina pectoris and, more recently, in the acute and chronic phases of myocardial infarction and in congestive heart failure. GTN molecular formula is C3H5N3O9 or C3H5(NO3)3 as demonstrated in figure 4.



Figure 4. Glyceryl Trinitrate chemical formula (175)

1.10.1 History

GTN was first synthesised by Ascanio Sobrero in 1846. He noticed that GTN can cause headaches which he attributed to vasodilatation. However; it was William Murrell who experimented with the use of nitroglycerin to treat angina pectoris and reduce blood pressure. In 1878 he published his results in the lancet following which the substance was wildly adopted. (176)

1.10.2 Effect and usage

GTN promotes peripheral pooling of blood and decreases venous return, producing a decrease in left ventricular pressure, myocardial wall tension, heart size and, ultimately, myocardial oxygen demand. As a result of the reduction in LVEDP subendocardial perfusion is increased. (177)

Arterial graft spasm can lead to intra and/or post-operative myocardial ischemia and cardiac arrhythmia. GTN infusion has shown to improve the flow in the internal mammary artery. (178, 179)

Treatment of intraoperative hypertension is important to control the myocardial oxygen demand. Nitroglycerin helps control blood pressure by dilating larger arteries without disturbing the metabolic regulation of blood flow in the capillaries. (180)

1.10.3 Pharmacology

Nitroglycerin forms free radical nitric oxide. In smooth muscle, nitric oxide activates guanylate cyclase which increases guanosine 3'5' monophosphate (cGMP) leading to dephosphorylation of myosin light chains and smooth muscle relaxation. This leads to mainly reduce oxygen demand.

1.10.4 Metabolism

The precise mechanism of GTN metabolism is not clear, however; two pathways have been proposed for its biotransformation. The first is a mechanism-based biotransformation pathway that produces nitric oxide (NO) and contributes directly to vasodilation. The second is a clearance-based biotransformation or detoxification pathway that produces inorganic nitrite anions (NO2-), which does not have apparent cardiovascular effects. Several enzymatic and non-enzymatic systems are capable of metabolising GTN.(181)

1.10.5 Pharmacokinetics in Humans

Regardless of its mode of administration, GTN disappears from the plasma within a few minutes. Its volume of distribution is large, and the systemic plasma clearance usually exceeds the cardiac output. (181)

1.10.6 GTN and Cardioprotection

The prophylactic effect of nitroglycerin infusions during coronary artery bypass surgery was tested by Gallagher et al. (182), in which 41 patients (Group 1) received nitroglycerin, and 40 patients (Group 2) received placebo. All patients received fentanyl for anaesthesia and pancuronium. Mean arterial pressure, pulmonary capillary wedge pressure, heart rate, and cardiac output were measured before and after the induction of anaesthesia, after intubation, before and after chest incision, after sternotomy, after the pericardium was opened and during normothermic cardiopulmonary bypass. However, myocardial ischaemia and infarction were diagnosed from the ECG only. There were no significant differences between groups 1 and 2 in HR, PCWP, or CO seen. Also, there was no difference in the incidence of

ischaemia. In Group 1, nine patients (22%) had ECG changes in ischaemia, while 12 patients in Group 2 (30%) had ischaemia.

Thomson et al. (183) investigated the effect of intravenous nitroglycerin in preventing intraoperative myocardial ischaemia during fentanyl-pancuronium anaesthesia with a randomised, double-blind protocol trial. Continuous ECG recording by a Holter Monitor was used to determine the incidence of ECG changes of myocardial ischaemia during the pre-cardiopulmonary bypass period. Patients in Group 1 (n = 9) received a 0.5 microgram.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹ iv NTG infusion 20 min prior to the induction of anaesthesia and throughout the study. Patients in Group 2 (n = 11) received placebo. The incidence of ischaemic ECG changes was virtually identical in Groups 1 (5/9) and 2 (5/11). Interestingly, the authors noted that fentanyl-pancuronium anaesthesia, as administered in this study, was associated with a high incidence of myocardial ischaemia.

Recently, increasing evidence has emerged indicating that NO itself may have an adverse effect on RIPC. Steensrud et al. (184) included 11 groups of rabbits which received placebo (saline), RIPC or adenosine. The groups were pre-treated with the nitric oxide (NO) synthase blocker NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester, the NO donor S-nitroso-N-acetylpenicillamine (SNAP), its non-NO-donating derivative N-acetylpenicillamine, or femoral nerve section

Pre-treatment with the NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester or N-acetylpenicillamine did not affect the level of protection induced by RIPC or intra-arterial adenosine, but prior femoral nerve transection or pre-treatment with SNAP abolished the cardioprotective effect of intra-arterial adenosine and RIPC.

Crucially, Hauerslev et al. (185) investigated the influence of long-term treatment with glyceryl trinitrate on RIPC. The group studied infarct size (IS) in rat hearts subjected to global ischaemia-reperfusion (I/R) in vitro, and endothelial function in healthy volunteers subjected to I/R of the upper arm. In addition to allocated treatment, rats were co-administered with reactive ROS or NO scavengers. Rats and humans were randomised to: 1) control, 2) RIC, 3) GTN, and 4) GTN + RIC. Rats and humans underwent long-term GTN treatment for seven consecutive days, applied subcutaneously or transdermally for 2 hours daily. In rats, RIC and long-term GTN treatment reduced the mean IS (18±12%, p=0.007 and 15±5%, p=0.002) compared to the control (35±13%). RIC and long-term GTN treatment in combination did not reduce IS (29±12%, p=0.55 vs. control), while RIC and long-term GTN prevented the reduction in endothelial function caused by I/R in humans; given in combination, prevention was lost. RIC and long-term GTN treatment both protect against rat myocardial and human endothelial I/R injury through ROS and NO-dependent mechanisms, but when given in combination, RIC and long-term GTN treatment fails to confer protection.

1.11 Conclusions

Remote ischaemic conditioning (RIC) has emerged as a non-invasive, low-cost therapeutic tool using one or more short cycles of limb ischaemia/reperfusion, to reduce perioperative myocardial injury in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting and/or valve surgery.

Most of the clinical studies investigating the effects of a preconditioning stimulus on myocardial damage, have reported beneficial effects using a standard single-limb RIPC protocol, comprising three or four 5-minute cycles of inflation and deflation of a cuff, placed on either the upper arm or thigh. However, several recent trials have failed

to demonstrate this, which may point to certain underlying factors that would compromise the protective effect of RIPC. The role of intravenous glyceryl trinitrate (GTN) therapy administered during cardiac surgery as a cardioprotective agent and whether it interferes with RIC cardioprotection is not clear and forms the bases of investigation in this thesis.

CHAPTER 2

2.1 Aims and Objectives

During cardiac surgery, the myocardium is subjected to PMI, as demonstrated by the rise in cardiac markers such as TnT. Table 2.1.1 shows a number of trials which demonstrated a negative interaction between increased levels of troponin, PMI and post-op complications.

Trial	Clinical Setting and Patient Number	Outcome
Mohammad et al. (59)	847 patients/CABG only	A linear association was seen between cTnT levels and length of stay and ventilator hours
Adabag et al. (61)	1,186 patients who underwent coronary artery bypass graft surgery (n = 696) or valve surgery (n = 490).	Postoperative cTnI measured 24 hours after heart surgery is independently associated with operative death and perioperative myocardial infarction.
Riedel et al. (60)	Patients with $(n = 24)$ and without $(n = 46)$ P-MI were then followed for three years after CABG surgery to determine the impact of cTn-I-defined P-MI on long- term outcome	P-MI, as defined by cTn-I, is associated with an increased long-term incidence of adverse cardiovascular events.

Table 2.1.1 The relationship between raised TnT and PMI.

2.2 Hypothesis

Hypothesis 1: Intra-operative intravenous GTN will reduce PMI in patients undergoing

CABG and/or valve surgery.

Hypothesis 2: RIC will reduce PMI in the absence of GTN in patients undergoing

CABG and/or valve surgery.

<u>Hypothesis 3</u>: RIC will not reduce PMI in the presence of GTN in patients undergoing CABG and/or valve surgery.

2.3 Overall Aim

The ERIC-GTN trial has been designed to determine whether intra-operatively administered IV GTN is cardioprotective during cardiac surgery and to investigate the interaction between RIC and IV GTN in their cardioprotective effects.

2.4 Objectives

To investigate the effects of remote ischaemic preconditioning and glyceryl trinitrate on peri-operative myocardial injury in patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass surgery.

Primary endpoint:

48-hour Area under the Curve (AUC) of high sensitivity Troponin T to assess perioperative myocardial injury (PMI).

Secondary endpoints:

- 1. Inotrope/Vasopressor requirements peri-operatively
- 2. Ventilator dependence postoperatively.
- 3. The incidence of Acute Kidney Injury assessed using biomarkers (Creatinine).
- 4. The incidence of Post-operative Atrial Fibrillation.
- 5. Length of intensive care unit (ICU) stay.
- 6. Length of Hospital stay.

CHAPTER 3

3.1 Methods and Results

3.1.1 Overview

We conducted a single-centre single-blinded randomised controlled clinical trial between January 2013 and November 2018, to investigate the effect of RIPC and GTN on perioperative myocardial injury.

The RIPC stimulus was induced via multi-limb approach to maximise the effect of RIPC, during anaesthesia induction in patients who were undergoing CABG and/or valve operation who met the inclusion criteria (http://www.clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT01864252).

3.1.2 Ethical approval and informed consent

The study received ethical approval from the National Health Service Research Ethics Committee, conformed to the spirit and the letter of the Declaration of Helsinki and was conducted in accordance with the principles of Good Clinical Practice under the oversight of University College London Hospital. All participants provided written informed consent.

Eligible patients were approached on the day of their elective admission prior to their surgery, provided with the patient information sheet (PIS) in order for them to have sufficient time to study it, and make an informed decision regarding whether to participate in the trial or not.

3.2 Trial Design

3.2.1 Overall design

The study was designed as a proof-of-concept, single centre trial (started at UCLH NHS Trust then later moved to Bart's NHS Trust). ERIC-GTN was a double-blinded, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. The double-blind nature of the study was achieved using active and placebo treatments. The patient, the anaesthetic and surgical teams, and the trial statistician (data analyst) were blinded to the treatment allocation. A schematic overview of the study design is given in Fig. 3.2.1.



Figure 5. Trial design and flow

The trial included two sub-studies:

- <u>Sub-study 1</u>: An observational study that collected pilot data of cardiac function, at baseline and post-operatively on trans-thoracic echocardiograms, performed on patients who received them as part of the routine follow up.
- <u>Sub-Study 2</u>: Various Cardioprotective markers: Patients were asked to take part in this sub-study which investigated the kinetics of various potential cardioprotective markers, before and after the procedure in patients undergoing CABG.

RIPC or a sham protocol was administered immediately after the induction of anaesthesia and prior to surgical incision. GTN or a saline infusion was started at 2mls/hour once the patient had been transferred from the anaesthetic room to the operating theatre. This was titrated to between 2-5ml/hr before starting bypass, with the aim of maintaining mean arterial pressure (MAP) above 60mmHg at all times.

3.2.2 Patient recruitment

All patients were screened against inclusion and exclusion criteria and recruited if deemed eligible from both sites (UCLH and Bart's), between January 2013 and February 2017.

3.2.3 Inclusion criteria

- 1. Age > 18 years
- 2. All patients admitted for on-pump CABG and/or valve surgery.
- 3. Able to give consent.

3.2.4 Exclusion criteria

1. Allergies to excipients of investigation medicinal product (IMP) and placebo.

2. Chronic renal failure (eGFR<30 ml/min/kg).

3. Severe liver disease.

4. Peripheral arterial disease.

5. Pregnant or lactating women (at the time of IMP administration).

6. Any other contraindications to glyceryl trinitrate as per the summary of product characteristics (SPC)*.

*The SPC states that glyceryl trinitrate should not be used in the following cases:

Known hypersensitivity to nitrates, severe anaemia, severe cerebral haemorrhage, head trauma, uncorrected hypovolaemia and hypotensive shock, arterial hypoxaemia and angina caused by hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy, constrictive pericarditis, pericardial tamponade, toxic pulmonary oedema. Sildenafil potentiates the hypotensive effects of nitrates and its co-administration with glyceryl trinitrate is contraindicated.

3.2.5 Randomisation

The recruited patients were randomised into one of the four arms of the study via the SealedEnvelope[™] website. The site was accessed by an authorised study team member at the site, using a unique user id and password.

Upon randomisation, the website assigned a specific code for each patient. This code was checked against the master list provided by the site to see to which arm of the study the patient had been assigned to.

3.2.6 Blinding

This was a single site, double-blinded randomised control clinical trial. The patients, cardiac surgeons and anaesthetists, operating theatre staff, and staff on the ICU and cardiac wards were all blinded to treatment allocation.

3.2.7 Intervention: RIPC and sham treatment protocols

RIPC and control protocols were applied after anaesthesia induction and before sternotomy. The RIPC protocol was delivered by simultaneously inflating one blood pressure cuff on one arm to 200 mmHg and another cuff on the leg, and leaving them both inflated for 5 minutes; this was followed by deflating both cuffs to 0 mmHg for 5 minutes. This cycle was repeated three times (i.e., a total of 40 minutes) in total. If the patient's systolic pressure was 185mmHg, the cuff was inflated to 15 mmHg above the systolic blood pressure.

For the control protocol, the two cuffs were simultaneously placed on the upper arm and the upper thigh and left un-inflated for 40 minutes.

Both RIPC and sham protocols were delivered after induction to prevent patient discomfort.

3.2.8 Anaesthetic procedure

The patient received pre-medication with oral temazepam 10-20 mg one hour prior to surgery. The patient was then taken to the anaesthetics room where I.V access was

obtained through the peripheral venous cannula, and an arterial line was also inserted to achieve continuous blood pressure (BP) monitoring.

Anaesthetic induction started with a combination of midazolam, etomidate, propofol, fentanyl and anti-nicotinic agents including rocuronium, vecuronium or pancuronium. Following induction, the trachea was intubated, and mechanical ventilation was started with oxygen with or without air. Trial infusion (GTN, Placebo) would have been started by this stage at 2ml/hr and up-titrated according to MAP (must not be below 60 at any point). Anaesthesia maintenance was achieved with volatile anaesthetic agents, including isoflurane or sevoflurane, and propofol infusion, with or without fentanyl. Arterial BP, central venous pressure, leads I and III of the electrocardiograms and the nasopharyngeal temperature was continuously recorded.

3.2.9 Surgical procedure

Following anaesthesia, the patient was transferred to the theatre room, and the operation was started with a mid-line sternotomy incision. At that point, left IMA (LIMA) was isolated from the thoracic wall if required, and the great saphenous vein was harvested as necessary.

Standard CPB was employed using a membrane oxygenator and cardiotomy suction, further to cannulation of the aortic root and the right atrial appendage: the proximal end of each anastomosis was created during CPB, with the distal end to the coronary arteries being constructed during cardiac standstill, which was achieved with aortic root cross-clamp and either the induction of ventricular fibrillation or the injection of a cardioplegic solution. With the technique of ICCF, ventricular fibrillation was induced through the application of an alternating current to the epicardium, and following aortic root clamping. The distal end of each anastomosis was then constructed, following

which the aortic root was de-clamped and ventricular fibrillation was reverted through a direct current shock.

Cardioplegia was achieved via two different methods:

<u>Antegrade cardioplegia</u>: One part of St. John's Cardioplegia solution mixed with four parts of cold blood was delivered to myocardial cells through the aortic root after aortic cross-clamp, followed by a maintenance cold blood cardioplegia, which was given down the grafts in occluded arteries and into the aortic root every 20-30 minutes. The normal systemic temperature, in this case, would range from 28-32°C.

<u>Antegrade and retrograde cardioplegia</u>: 800 ml of cardioplegia was administered into the aortic root followed by 400ml of retrograde cardioplegia solution given through the coronary sinus, and maintenance was achieved with 100ml of retrograde cardioplegia after each anastomosis. A hot shot of warm blood without potassium was given after the LIMA anastomosis and prior to removal of the cross-clamp. All anastomoses were constructed with the single-clamp technique, and the systemic temperature for these patients was 35°C.

3.2.10 Valve replacement/Repair

The decision whether to repair or replace the diseased valve or valves rested with the surgeon, and was usually made before sternotomy by examining various imaging modalities used to assess the valve such as transthoracic echo (TTE), trans oesophageal echo (TOE) and CT scans. A routine TOE was performed by the anaesthetic team prior to sternotomy, to confirm findings and management plan. On several occasions, and based on the findings of the pre-operative TOE, the treatment

for the target value or values changed from, for example, repair to replacement and vice versa.

3.3 Secondary Study Endpoints

3.3.1 Acute Kidney Injury (AKI)

AKI in the context of cardiac surgery can occur in 30% of patients. Also, 1-2% of patients can require dialysis which would lead to an 8-fold increase in death (186).

Serum creatinine was measured pre-operatively, and at 6 hours, 12 hours, 24 hours, and 48 hours following the discontinuation of CPB. Hourly urine output and daily urine volumes for the duration of intensive therapy unit (ITU) stay were recorded.

3.3.2 Inotrope requirement

Inotrope requirements are seen as an important indicator of the post-operative recovery period and the surgical outcome, which subsequently have an effect on ICU stay. Inotrope score (187) was recorded in this trial, and was calculated as follows:

Dosages (in µg/kg/min) of [Dopamine + Dobutamine] + [(Adrenaline + Noradrenaline + Isoproterenol + Isoproterenol) x 100] + [(Enoximone + Milrinone) x 15].

3.3.3 Ventilator dependence postoperatively

The duration of endotracheal intubation was noted in hours. Re-intubation rates were calculated by noting down the number of patients requiring re-intubation and comparing this between the four groups.

3.3.4 Incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation (AF)

New-onset post-operative AF occurs in 30-50% of patients following cardiac surgery (30% post-CABG surgery, 40% following valve surgery and 50% further to CABG plus valve surgery) (188).

Postoperative AF is usually secondary to hypovolaemia, electrolyte imbalance, central venous catheters insertion, prolonged aortic cross-clamp times, increased automaticity, increased sympathetic tone and importantly IRI (188). We intended to establish whether RIPC protects patients from new-onset postoperative AF. This was calculated as the incidence of new-onset AF in the first 48 hours after surgery, which was detected by continuous telemetry and ECG.

3.3.5 Length of ITU stay

The length of ITU and hospital stay is a crucial post-operative parameter and represents a significant component of NHS costs and resources. The length of stay in ITU was calculated in days.

3.3.6 Length of stay in hospital

Calculated in days reflecting the total stay for the patients recruited in the hospital.

3.4 Statistical analysis and sample size estimation

3.4.1 Sample size calculation

In a recent trial by our group (Candilio et al. (189)), 178 patients were randomised to receive RIPC or a sham protocol, as described above. A sub-group analysis was performed of patients who had received GTN versus those that did not within the control arm. In total, 65 patients received GTN while 24 did not, interestingly, there

was a significant difference in hsTnT AUC of approximately 20 in this group, which was statistically significant. However, in the groups in which GTN was not given, RIPC resulted in significant protection with small numbers in the groups (n = 21 vs. 35; sham vs. RIPC).

To ascertain the interaction between GTN and RIPC, the ERIC-GTN trial was designed with four groups; the sample size was based on detecting a difference in the means of the RIPC group versus the difference in the means of the GTN group (i.e., the interaction parameter in a linear regression model). We assumed that the AUC is approximately normally distributed, with 80% power, a 5% two-sided significance level and an AUC standard deviation of 21.4 microgram/L (as observed in our pilot data); with 50 patients in each group, we were able to observe a difference of 12 microgram/L or larger in the AUC. Taking into consideration a 5% dropout rate and a 10% crossover rate from the placebo arm to the GTN arm, for safety reasons, we anticipate recruiting 260 patients in total with 65 in each group.

However, and as the main objective of the ERIC-GTN trial has been to determine whether there is an interaction between RIC and GTN, our interim analysis of the ERIC-GTN study showed a negative interaction between the latter and the former, with respect to peri-operative myocardial injury, assessed by Troponin release.

During our final DMEC meeting, the committee concluded that one of the fundamental questions that ERIC-GTN was set out to answer has been fulfilled. This, in addition to other logistical challenges, was enough for the committee to advise stopping the trial; therefore, the recruitment was halted at 192 patients. This issue will be explored further in Chapter 3.

3.4.2 Recruitment Process

As the ERIC-GTN trial was a single site trial, the recruitment process started initially at the Heart Hospital which is part of the UCLH NHS Trust. After the merger between Bart's NHS Trust and UCLH NHS Trust in May 2015, the trial was moved to Bart's Heart Centre, and the recruitment process was resumed there.

The patient screening process was performed by checking the elective cardiac surgery list, which is typically produced at the end of the working day. Screened patients were checked against the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Following that, a member of the trial team approached the patients who met all of the inclusion criteria and none of the exclusion criteria, to offer the PIS of the trial to these patients. The patients were given time to read the document and consider being enrolled in the trial. If the patient decided that they would like to be enrolled, they signed the trial consent form on the following day prior to their surgery. Two copies of the signed consent form were made; the original was filed in the TMF, a copy was given to the patient and the other copy was kept in the patient's medical notes.

The first part of the CRF was completed by a non-blinded member of the trial team during the different stages of the operation (induction, putting the patient on CPB, etc...), while the second part of the CRF was completed by a blinded member of the team. The reason behind having two parts of CRF is that, while the first part could have been completed soon after the end of the surgical procedure, the completion of the second part could have taken several days (until the recruited patient is discharged from hospital). Due to logistic reasons, it would have been difficult to complete the second part by the same non-blinded member of the team, and therefore; another

blinded member completed the second part of CRF. The completed CRF form was then stored in the trial main file (TMF).

3.4.3 Results

In total, 189 patients were successfully recruited between January 2014 and February 2017. One patient with an excessive Troponin T value was excluded, and four patients did not have complete information about the treatment assignment; therefore, data from 184 patients were analysed.



Figure 6. Recruited patients flow

The intervention was completed as per the trial protocol in 174 patients (95.1%) where in 9 patients (4.9%) the intervention was interrupted and was not completed properly. Information for 6 patients were missing.



Figure 7. Trial's intervention flow

The investigational medicinal product (IMP) was started at 2ml/hr as stated by the trial protocol. In 181 patients the IMP was started at a minimal dose of 0.1ml/hr, maximum 5.0ml/hr with mean 2.05 and SD 0.5. Data was missing for 8 patients. The maximum dose for IMP for 170 patients was ranging between 1-10 ml/hr, while the calculated mean was 2.98 and the standard deviation was 1.47. The minimum dose for 171 patients was ranging between 0.00-4.1 ml/hr. The calculated mean was 1.89 while the standard deviation was 0.53. In 177 patients, the IMP infusion was completed as per the trial protocol in 157 patients (88.7%), while in 20 patients (11.3%) the protocol was not followed for various reasons including patient's low blood pressure and the anaesthetic team being uncomfortable with the trial's IMP doses.

Number of patients who received propofol as part of the induction regime was 153/177 (86.4%), while the number of patients received propofol as a maintenance infusion was 170/177 (96.0%).

Descriptive statistics were given by the treatment group and alone. Groups were indicated by the variable *group*, taking values from 1 to 4 corresponding to:

- 1. **Control** (n=45)
- 2. **GTN** (n=47)
- 3. **RIPC** (n=43)
- 4. **GTN + RIPC** (n=49)

Continuous variables at baseline were found to be well balanced in the four treatment groups.

Group	Age (years)	WT (kg)	HT (m)	BMI	BP	Pulse/Min	EF%
1 (n=)	44	45	44	44	45	45	33
Mean	68.5	83.3	1.69	29.2	0.6	70.3	58.6
SD	12.1	15.5	0.1	5.6	0.4	10.7	9.1
2 (n=)	46	47	46	46	47	46	34
Mean	66.8	85.3	1.6	29.4	0.6	66.3	58.1
SD	12.3	15.8	0.07	5.1	0.4	11.5	9.5
3 (n=)	39	43	43	43	43	41	30
Mean	65.9	82.2	1.7	28.2	0.7	66.8	57.5
SD	11.5	14.4	0.08	4.7	0.4	10.3	12.6
4 (n=)	49	48	47	47	48	47	32
Mean	67.9	81.6	1.7	28.5	0.6	70.1	54.4
SD	11.7	14.9	0.09	4.6	0.4	12.2	11.3
Total	178	183	180	180	183	179	129
Mean	67.3	83.1	1.7	28.8	0.6	68.4	57.2
SD	11.9	15.1	0.08	5.0	0.4	11.3	10.6

Table 3.4.3.1 Continuous variables (N, Mean, SD)



Figure 8. Continuous Variables.

• Categorical variables

Categorical variables were well balanced in the four treatment groups. Imbalances in ethnicity depend on the very small number of people in some ethnic groups.

Ethnicity	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4	Total
White British	42	37	33	39	151
Ratio %	93.3	80.4	76.7	79.5	82.5
White Irish	0	0	1	0	1
Ratio%	0.00	0.00	2.33	0.00	0.55
White other	1	2	0	5	8
Ratio%	2.2	4.3	0.00	10.2	4.3
White & Black Caribbean	0	0	0	1	1
Ratio%	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.04	0.5
White & Asian	0	1	0	0	1
Ratio%	0.00	2.1	0.00	0.00	0.5
Indian	1	1	2	0	4
Ratio%	2.2	2.1	4.6	0.00	2.2

Table 3.4.3.2 Ethnicity
Bangladeshi	0	1	0	0	1
Ratio%	0.00	2.1	0.00	0.00	0.5
Pakistani	0	1	3	2	6
Ratio%	0.00	2.1	6.9	4.0	3.2
Other Asian	0	2	0	0	2
Ratio%	0.00	4.3	0.00	0.00	1.1
Caribbean	0	1	1	0	2
Ratio%	0.00	2.1	2.3	0.00	1.1
African	1	0	0	0	1
Ratio%	2.2	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.5
Black other	0	0	1	0	1
Ratio%	0.00	0.00	2.3	0.00	0.5
Chinese	0	0	0	1	1
Ratio%	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.0	0.5
Other	0	0	2	1	3
Ratio%	0.00	0.00	4.6	2.0	1.6
Total	45	46	43	49	183
Ratio%	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00

• Binary variables on sex and comorbidities (Percentage, n)

Table 3.4.3.3 Binary	variables on sex	and comorbidities	(Percentage	, n)
----------------------	------------------	-------------------	-------------	------

Group	Male	DM	Cholesterol	HTN	МІ	PCI	CABG	TIA/Stroke
1 (n=)	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	45
	73.3% (33)	24.4% (11)	46.6% (21)	60% (27)	24.4% (11)	13.3% (6)	0	4.4% (2)
2 (n=)	47	47	47	47	47	47	47	47
	85.1% (40)	21.2% (10)	59.5% (28)	63.8% (30)	17.% (8)	17.% (8)	2.1% (1)	4.2% (2)
3 (n=)	43	43	43	43	43	43	43	43
	79% (34)	30.2% (13)	62.7% (27)	69.7% (30)	23.% (10)	20.9% (9)	4.6% (2)	13.9% (6)

4 (n=)	48	48	48	48	48	48	48	48
	77.5% (37)	33.3% (16)	43.7% (21)	60.4% (29)	35.4% (17)	16.6% (8)	4.1% (2)	6. 2% (3)
Total	183	183	183	183	183	183	183	183
	78.8% (144)	27.3% (50)	53.% (97)	63.3% (116)	25.1% (46)	16.9% (31)	2.7% (5)	7.1% (13)

Group	AF	PAD	Smoker
1 (n=)	45	45	40
	17.7% (8)	0	55% (20)
2 (n=)	47	47	43
	6.3% (3)	0	74.4% (32)
3 (n=)	43	43	40
	6.9% (3)	6.9% (3)	67.5% (27)
4 (n=)	48	48	44
	16.6% (8)	2.% (1)	59.% (26)

• Binary variables on medications at the time of treatment (Percentage, N)

Group	Aspirin	Clopidogrel	B-	Ca-	Nitrates	Anti-lipid	ACE	Insulin
			Blocker	Blocker				
1 (n=)	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	45
	57.7% (26)	15.5% (7)	64.4% (29)	31.1% (14)	26.6% (12)	73.3% (33)	64.4% (29)	8.8% (4)
2 (n=)	47	47	47	47	47	47	47	47
	72.3% (34)	25.5% (12)	55.3% (26)	34.0% (16)	31.9% (15)	74.4% (35)	65.9% (31)	02.1% (1)
3 (n=)	43	43	43	43	43	43	43	43
	69.7% (30)	32.5% (14)	69.7% (30)	37.2% (16)	25.5% (11)	86.0% (37)	62.7% (27)	2.3% (1)
4 (n=)	48	48	48	48	48	48	48	48
	54.1% (26)	31.2% (15)	68.7% (33)	27.0% (13)	27.0% (13)	70.8% (34)	58.3% (28)	6.2% (3)
Total	183	183	183	183	183	183	183	183
	63.3% (116)	26.2% (48)	64.4% (118)	32.2% (59)	27.8% (51)	75.9%(139)	62.8% (115)	4.9% (9)

Table 3.4.3.4 Binary variables on medications at the time of treatment (Percentage, N)

Group	Sulphonylurea	Metformin
1 (n=)	45	45
	13.3% (6)	17.7% (8)
2 (n=)	47	47
	8.5% (4)	14.8% (7)
3 (n=)	43	43
	6.9% (3)	20.9% (9)
4 (n=)	48	48
	6.2% (3)	14.5% (7)
Total	183	183
	8.7% (16)	16.9% (31)

Table 3.4.3.5 Cardioplegia Technique

Cold	Warm	Antegrade	Retrograde	Crystalloid	Blood	Missing
116/173	43/173	145/173	27/173	6/173	142/173	16
(67.1%)	(19.7%)	(83.8%)	(15.6%)	(3.5%)	(82.2%)	(8.5%)

Table 3.4.3.6 Intermittent Cross-Clamp Fibrillation

Total Number	Yes	No	Missing
172	26/172 (15.1%)	146/172 (84.9%)	17 (9.0%)

• Troponin T values

TroponinT values were measured at each time point.

VARIABLE	OBS	MEAN	SD	MIN	MAX
TNT-HS (0H)	164	59.9	177.8	3	1201
TNT-HS (6H)	147	895.1	873.7	169	6474
TNT-HS (12H)	158	733.1	714.8	12	5252
TNT-HS (24H)	153	529.8	527.1	123	4323
TNT-HS (48H)	127	408.7	354.9	92	2607

 Table 3.4.3.7 Troponin values at each time point.

Missing data was an issue. Data were noticeably missing at the 48-hour time-point for multiple reasons, including the fact that most of the recruited patients would have been moved out of the intensive care unit to the medical ward. Therefore, patients would not be monitored on a one-to-one basis, and taking research blood samples could not be accommodated by the busy medical staff on the wards on some occasions. Another important factor is the lack of trial staff able to take blood samples at the correct point in time, in case medical staff were not able to. The trial team would have been more involved in recruiting another patient for the trial at that stage.

A closer look at Troponin T summary statistics (**N**, **mean**, **SD**) within each group is shown in the table below.

Group	TnT-hs (0H)	TnT-hs (6H)	TnT-hs (12H)	TnT-hs (24H)	TnT-hs (48H)
1 (n=)	41	37	40	36	31
Mean	17.4	1003.4	806.9	672.6	455.2
SD	24.8	820.0	688.0	759.2	472.9
2 (n=)	39	36	37	37	28
Mean	19.6	877.7	739.5	448.0	418.9
SD	19.6	937.5	821.5	396.6	318.8
3 (n=)	41	33	40	40	31
Mean	97.5	647.5	569.7	412.7	308.4
SD	221.1	395.9	380.4	266.0	214.9
4 (n=)	43	41	41	40	37
Mean	101	1011.8	814.5	594.0	446.0
SD	262.4	1100.3	869.8	553.3	357.2
Total	164	147	158	153	127
Mean	59.9	895.1	733.1	529.8	408.7
SD	177.8	873.7	714.8	527.1	354.9

 Table 3.4.3.8 Troponin T statistical summary according to treatment group

The **complete data for Troponin T values** (i.e. those available to calculate the Area under the Curve) is shown in the table below.

	Table 3.4.3.9 Com	plete data available	to calculate the area	under the curve
--	-------------------	----------------------	-----------------------	-----------------

GROUP	TNT-HS (0H)	TNT-HS(6H)	TNT-HS (12H)	TNT-HS (24H)	TNT-HS (48H)
1	20	20	20	20	20
MEAN	14.7	1036.3	873.9	759.7	497.7
SD	13.4	954.6	865.1	973.5	570.7
2	18	18	18	18	18
MEAN	23.7	1004.9	887.1	518.4	389.0
SD	26.0	1214.5	1065.3	514.9	296.4
3	26	26	26	26	26
MEAN	43.8	620.0	502.6	351.4	270.3
SD	86.9	392.9	370.8	236.0	165.8
4	27	27	27	27	27
MEAN	135.5	1115.4	891.1	605.4	493.0
SD	316.7	1293.5	1020.3	576.2	389.6
TOTAL	91	91	91	91	91
MEAN	60.6	934.6	775.5	549.5	409.8
SD	183.7	1019.3	861.1	619.5	382.6

Using complete data, it was possible to get the graphical representation of the MEAN areas under the curves under each treatment group. SD was considered relevant, meaning that individual curves could vary consistently.



Figure 9. The graphical representation of the MEAN areas under the curve under each treatment group (using the complete data).

The following table shows that the mean AUC was visually smaller for group 3 (RIPC

only). The significance of this will become clear towards the end of this chapter.

Group	Number	Mean	SD
1	20	33775.0	37203.5
2	18	28085.3	29317.0
3	26	17945.7	11359.2
4	27	31933.6	31819.0
Total	91	27580.6	28704.6

Table 3.4.3.10 AUC for all groups



Figure 10. AUC using histogram of area and normal Q-Q plot.

Examining the graph above, the AUC did not appear to be normally distributed; however, the **log (AUC)** seemed to better comply with the following assumption:



Figure 11. Log transferred AUC

3.4.4 Regression Analyses

- ANOVA results gave significance for the main effects of the treatments and the interaction between them, indicating that the treatment was effectively *averaging* the possible values (in this case 2) of the other treatment.
- Regression tables coefficients were summed up and then exponentiated to obtain geometric expected values for AUC in the four treatment groups.

This distinction was meaningful to interpret the tables with pairwise comparisons. Those tables contained the main effects on the top and group comparisons on the bottom rows. If the interaction term in ANOVA/regression tables (test is the same) was significant, the main effects would have lost their meaning since, although an average effect could have been calculated, it would have been misleading: the effect of one treatment changes (see the graphs with the crossing lines below) according to the administrative status of the other treatment. In these cases, it was better to look at group comparisons instead.

Anova is usually used to compare the means for combinations of two independent binary variables. In this case interaction was significant, while the main effect was not. Histogram and QQ plots of residuals showed an acceptable departure from normality.



Figure 12. ANOVA regression analysis

The interaction was found to be statistically significant (F = 4.3, p = 0.0411), which meant that the effect of RIPC could not be generalised for both patients who received GTN and those who received saline, but for different levels of one treatment, the effect of the other treatment varies. Plot 1 shows that RIPC decreases log (AUC) for those under Saline, while RIPC is associated with a higher AUC when patients are also taking GTN. <u>Plot 1</u>: RIPC decreases log (AUC) for a patient who received saline, while RIPC is associated with a higher AUC for patients who received GTN.





We opted to use a linear regression model as it was useful to estimate the effects. The model was based on the log-transformed AUC (**larea**). However, in the table below, coefficients have been exponentiated, so they were interpretable as ratios of geometric means. For example, the effect of RIPC was a 37.1% reduction in AUC geometric means for patients only in the RIPC treatment group (group 3), compared with the control group (group 1).

larea	Geometric mean ratio	Standard Error	t-test	Р	[95% Conf. Interval]	
IMP(GTN)	0.8	0.1	-0.90	0.369	0.5	1.2
Intervention (RIPC)	0.6	0.1	-2.19	0.031	0.4	0.9
IMP/intervention	1.8	0.5	2.07	0.041	1.0	3.4
Constant	24381.6	3877.9	63.51	0.000	17773.3	33446.9

 Table 3.4.4.1 Log transformed AUC (larea)/Linear regression model.

Since interaction was significant, the table above gave only a partial representation of all of the possible contrasts between groups. Pairwise comparisons of marginal linear predictions were used to assess the significance of all possible pair comparisons. Here too, coefficients and confidence intervals were exponentiated, and since the interaction was significant (see above), marginal comparisons of the treatments (top two rows in the table below) were not useful to assess treatments effects.

Table 3.4.4.2 Pairwise compariso	n of	marginal	linear	prediction	with	exponentiated
coefficients and confidence interv	al.	-				

		Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	t-test	Р	[95% Conf. Interval]		
IMP								
GTN Saline	VS.	1.1	0.1	0.69	0.490	0.8	1.5	
Intervention								
RIPC Sham	VS.	0.8	0.1	-0.99	0.323	0.6	1.1	
IMP/Intervention								
		Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	t-test	р	[95% Con	f. Interval]	

(Saline/RIPC) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.6	0.1	-2.19	0.031	0.4	0.9
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.8	0.1	-0.90	0.369	0.5	1.2
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.9	0.2	-0.22	0.829	0.6	1.4
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.3	0.2	1.17	0.245	0.8	1.9
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.5	0.3	2.14	0.035	1.0	2.2
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (GTN/Sham)	1.1	0.2	0.75	0.453	0.7	1.8

The estimates for comparisons "(**Saline/RIPC**) vs. (**Saline/Sham**)" and "(**GTN/Sham**) vs. (**Saline/Sham**)" were equal to those in the regression model tables since they did not involve interactions, while the others were calculated taking into account the interaction.

Finally, we performed regression analyses only for log-transformed Troponin T values at 6, 12, 24 and 48 hours, controlling for baseline values.

Table 3.4.4.3 Regression analysis only for log-transformed Troponin T values at 6hours controlling for baseline values.

• 6 hours

hsTnT6H	Geometric mean ratio	Standard Error	t-test	Ρ	[95%Conf. Interval]		
IMP							
GTN	0.8	0.1	-1.44	0.152	0.5	1.0	
Intervention							
RIPC	0.6	0.1	-2.64	0.009	0.4	0.9	
		IMP / Inte	ervention				
GTN/RIPC	1.7	0.3	2.42	0.017	1.1	2.7	
hsTnT0H	1.2	0.05	4.72	0.000	1.1	1.3	
Constant	445.1	70.8	38.34	0.000	325.0	609.6	

	Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	t-test	Р	[95% Conf.	Interval]		
IMP								
GTN vs. Saline	1.0	0.1	0.36	0.717	0.8	1.3		
		Intervention						
RIPC vs. Sham	0.8	0.1	-1.40	0.163	0.6	1.0		
IMP/Intervention								
(Saline/RIPC)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.6	0.1	-2.64	0.009	0.4	0.9		
(GTN/Sham)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.8	0.1	-1.44	0.152	0.5	1.0		
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.8	0.1	-0.76	0.446	0.6	1.2		
(GTN/Sham)vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.2	0.2	1.22	0.223	0.8	1.7		
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.3	0.2	1.99	0.049	1.0	1.8		
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (GTN/Sham)	1.1	0.1	0.71	0.477	0.8	1.5		

Table 3.4.4.4 Regression analysis only for log-transformed Troponin T values at12hours controlling for baseline values.

• 12 hours

hsTnT12H	Geometric mean ratio	Standard Error	t-test	Р	[95% Conf. Interval]			
IMP								
GTN	0.8	0.1	-0.94	0.347	0.6	1.1		
Intervention								
RIPC	0.6	0.1	-2.71	0.007	0.4	0.8		
		IMP/Inte	ervention					
GTN/RIPC	1.6	0.3	2.11	0.036	1.0	2.6		
hsTnT0H	1.1	0.05	3.53	0.001	1.0	1.3		
Constant	407.7	67.5	36.29	0.000	293.9	565.6		

	Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	t-test	Р	[95% Conf. Interval			
		IMF)					
GTN vs. Saline	1.1	0.1	0.75	0.452	0.8	1.3		
Intervention								
RIPC vs. Sham	0.8	0.1	-1.70	0.090	0.6	1.0		
		IMP/Interv	vention					
(Saline/RIPC) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.6	0.1	-2.71	0.007	0.4	0.8		
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.8	0.1	-0.94	0.347	0.6	1.2		
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.8	0.1	-0.70	0.485	0.6	1.2		
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.3	0.2	1.73	0.086	0.9	1.8		

(GTN/RIPC) (Saline/RIPC)	vs.	1.4	0.2	2.07	0.040	1.0	1.9
(GTN/RIPC) (GTN/Sham)	vs.	1.0	0.1	0.26	0.798	0.7	1.4

Table 3.4.4.5 Regression analysis only for log-transformed Troponin T values at 24hours controlling for baseline values

• 24 Hours

hsTnT24H	Geometric mean ratio	Standard Error	t-test	Р	[95% Conf. Interval]			
IMP								
GTN	0.7	0.1	-2.11	0.037	0.5	0.9		
Intervention								
RIPC	0.6	0.1	-2.92	0.004	0.4	0.8		
		IMP/Ir	ntervention					
GTN/RIPC	1.7	0.3	2.66	0.009	1.1	2.6		
hsTnT0H	1.2	0.05	4.93	0.000	1.1	1.3		
Constant	281.7	42.0	37.80	0.000	209.7	378.3		

	Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	t-test	Р	95% Conf	f. Interval]			
IMP									
GTN vs. Saline	0.9	0.1	-0.39	0.694	0.7	1.1			
Intervention									
RIPC vs. Sham	0.8	0.1	-1.47	0.144	0.6	1.0			
IMP/Intervention									
(Saline/RIPC) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.6	0.1	-2.92	0.004	0.4	0.8			

(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.7	0.1	-2.11	0.037	0.5	0.9
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.8	0.1	-1.32	0.189	0.6	1.1
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.1	0.1	0.78	0.438	0.8	1.5
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.2	0.1	1.65	0.101	0.9	1.6
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (GTN/Sham)	1.1	0.1	0.81	0.420	0.8	1.5

Table 3.4.4.6 Regression analysis only for log-transformed Troponin T values at 48hours controlling for baseline values.

• 48 hours

hsTnT48H	Geometric mean ratio	Standard Error	t-test	Р	[95% Conf. Interval]					
IMP										
GTN	0.9	0.1	-0.28	0.776	0.6	1.3				
intervention										
RIPC	0.7	0.1	-2.00	0.047	0.5	0.1				
		IMP/Inte	ervention	1						
GTN/RIPC	1.3	0.3	1.36	0.177	0.8	2.2				
hsTnT0H	1.2	0.06	3.86	0.000	1.1	1.3				
Constant	205.4	35.4	30.87	0.000	145.1	289.0				

	Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	t-test	Ρ	95% Cor	nf. Interval				
IMP										
GTN vs. Saline	1.1	0.1	0.94	0.352	0.8	1.4				
Intervention										
RIPC vs. Sham	0.8	0.1	-1.47	0.143	0.6	1.0				

IMP/Intervention										
(Saline/RIPC vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.7	0.1	-2.00	0.047	0.5	0.1				
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.9	0.1	-0.28	0.776	0.6	1.3				
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.9	0.1	-0.40	0.692	0.6	1.3				
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.3	0.2	1.66	0.100	0.9	1.9				
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.3	0.2	1.70	0.091	0.9	1.8				
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (GTN/Sham)	0.9	0.1	-0.09	0.929	0.7	1.3				

The complete case analysis showed that there was **no significant main effect of GTN**. In particular:

• For AUC:

There was a **significant interaction term** (**p** = **0.041**). The only significant reduction in AUC was noticed for group 3 (**RIPC+Saline**) vs. group 1 (**Sham+Saline**), which was when comparing groups where <u>*no GTN treatment*</u> <u>*was involved*</u>.

• For Troponin T values at any time point

The interaction term was significant at **6**, **12 and 24 hours**. At all these time points the contrast **RIPC+Saline** (group 3) VS **Sham+Saline** (group 1) was significant and could be interpreted as the same before. Also, for time points **6 and 12 hours**, the outcome for group 4 (**RIPC+GTN**) was worse than that for group 3 (**RIPC+Sham**), a result that highlighted the role of the interaction term for the two treatments again. Finally, there was no significant effect at **48h** for any treatment.

As the amount of missing data was substantial, it was difficult to base conclusion on complete case analysis. After reviewing the causes of missing data, it was noticed that data were missing completely at random (**MCAR** data were not missing); therefore, the results from complete case analysis would have not been biased. We opted for a multiple imputations strategy, as shown below, and based the conclusion upon those.

3.4.5 Multiple Imputation Analyses

<u>Notes</u>

- In our CRF, the symbol == was used to indicate the number zero. For example, grafts== meant there were no grafts used.
- We adopted the **ERICCA** trial imputation model and created 20 imputed datasets.

The extent of absence of hsTnT values is shown in the table below. As demonstrated, the most absent data belonged to the 48H point.

Table 3.4.5.1 Multiple	Imputation	analysis
------------------------	------------	----------

Variable	Missing Observations	Total Observations
hsTnT 0H	20	164
hsTnT 6H	37	147
hsTnT12H	26	158
hsTnT24H	31	153
hsTnT48H	57	127

Average values for all the 20 imputed datasets show that AUC shapes are similar to those obtained using complete data (see above).



Figure 13. Normality of data is achieved after multiple imputations.



Time in hours / Troponin T level ng/l

Figure 14. The graphical representation of the MEAN areas under the curve using Imputed data.

The results were assessed directly using a regression model and pairwise comparisons. Once again coefficients were exponentiated to be interpretable as ratios of geometric means. None of the coefficients were significant.

Table 3.4.5.2 Im	puted data	AUC not a	showing any	y significant	interaction.
------------------	------------	-----------	-------------	---------------	--------------

larea	Geometric mean ratio	Standard Error	t-test	Ρ	[95% Conf.	Interval]
IMP(GTN)	0.9	0.1	-0.50	0.618	0.6	1.2
Intervention (RIPC)	0.7	0.1	-1.77	0.078	0.5	1.0
IMP/Intervention	1.3	0.3	1.47	0.144	0.9	2.1
Constant	23274.1	2601.6	89.95	0.000	18661.2	29027.3

Pairwise comparisons did not show any significant interactions also.

	Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	[95% Conf. Interval]							
IMP										
GTN vs. Saline	1.0	0.1	0.8	1.3						
	Interventio	n								
RIPC vs. Sham	0.8	0.1	0.7	1.1						
IMP/Intervention										
(Saline/RIPC)vs.(Saline/Sham)	0.7	0.1	0.5	1.0						
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.9	0.1	0.6	1.2						
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.9	0.1	0.7	1.3						
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.2	0.2	0.8	1.6						
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.2	0.2	0.9	1.7						
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (GTN/Sham)	1.0	0.1	0.7	1.4						

 Table 3.4.5.3 Pairwise comparisons not showing any significant interactions.

We replicated the analysis only looking at single time points, as in the complete data analysis.

Table 3.4.5.4 Replication analysis looking at 6 hours in the complete data analysis.

6 hours

hsTnT6H	Geometric mean ratio	Standard Error	t-test	Р	[95% Con	f. Interval]
IMP	0.8	0.1	-0.83	0.409	0.6	1.2
Intervention	0.6	0.1	-2.46	0.015	0.4	0.9
IMP/Intervention	1.3	0.3	1.47	0.143	0.9	2.1
hsTnT 0H	1.2	0.05	4.25	0.000	1.1	1.3

Constant	468.9	76.0	37.94	0.000	340.1	646.5

	Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	[95% Conf. Interval]					
IMP								
GTN vs. Saline	1.0	0.1	0.8	1.2				
	Intervent	tion						
RIPC vs. Sham	0.8	0.1	0.6	0.9				
	IMP/Interve	ention						
(Saline/RIPC) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.6	0.1	0.4	0.9				
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.8	0.1	0.6	1.2				
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.8	0.1	0.6	1.1				
(GTN/Sham) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.3	0.2	0.9	1.8				
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.2	0.1	0.9	1.6				
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (GTN/Sham)	0.9	0.1	0.6	1.2				

Table 3.4.5.5 Replication analysis looking at 12 hours in the complete data analysis.

• 12 hours

hsTnT12H	Geometric mean Ratio	Standard Error	t-test	Р	[95% Con	f. Interval]
IMP (GTN)	0.9	0.1	-0.54	0.592	0.6	1.2
Intervention (RIPC)	0.6	0.1	-2.76	0.007	0.4	0.8
IMP/Intervention	1.5	0.3	1.77	0.079	0.9	2.4
hsTnT 0H	1.1	0.05	3.16	0.002	1.0	1.3
Constant	426.9	74.3	34.80	0.000	302.6	602.4

	Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	[95% Conf. Interval]			
	IMP					
GTN vs. Saline	1.1	0.1	0.8	1.4		
	Interventio	n				
RIPC vs. Sham	0.7	0.1	0.6	0.9		
IMP/Intervention						
(Saline/RIPC)vs.(Saline/Sham)	0.6	0.1	0.4	0.8		
(GTN/Sham)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.9	0.1	0.6	1.2		
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.8	0.1	0.6	1.2		
(GTN/Sham)vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.4	0.2	1.0	2.0		
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.3	0.2	0.1	1.9		
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (GTN/Sham)	0.9	0.1	0.6	1.3		

 Table 3.4.5.6 Replication analysis looking at 24 hours in the complete data analysis.

• 24 hours

hsTnT24H	Geometric mean ratio	Standard Error	t	Ρ	[95% Conf. Interval]	
IMP	0.9	0.1	-0.61	0.544	0.6	1.2
Intervention	0.6	0.1	-2.60	0.010	0.4	0.9
IMP/Intervention	1.5	0.3	1.89	0.061	0.9	2.3
hsTnT 0H	1.2	0.05	4.21	0.000	1.1	1.3
Constant	269.0	45.7	32.94	0.000	192.0	377.0

	Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	[95% Conf. Interval]	
	IMP			
GTN vs. Saline	1.1	0.1	0.8	1.4
	Intervention			
RIPC vs. Sham	0.8	0.1	0.6	1.0
	IMP/Intervention			
(Saline/RIPC)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.6	0.1	0.4	0.9
(GTN/Sham)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.9	0.1	0.6	1.2
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.9	0.1	0.6	1.2
(GTN/Sham)vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.3	0.2	0.9	1.9
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.3	0.2	1.0	1.8
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (GTN/Sham)	0.1	0.1	0.7	1.3

Table 3.4.5.7 Replication analysis looking at 48 hours in the complete data analysis.

• 48 hours

hsTnT 48H	Geometric mean ratio	Standard Error	t	Р	[95% Conf. Interval	
Imp	1.0	0.1	0.13	0.899	0.7	1.4
Intervention	0.6	0.1	-2.36	0.020	0.5	0.9
IMP/Intervention	1.4	0.3	1.59	0.113	0.9	2.1
hsTnT 0H	1.2	0.05	3.92	0.000	1.1	1.3
Constant	205.5	34.2	31.95	0.000	147.6	286.1

	Exponentiated coefficients	Standard Error	[95% Conf. Interval]	
	IMP			
GTN vs. Saline	1.2	0.1	0.9	1.5
	Intervent	ion		
RIPC vs. Sham	0.8	0.1	0.6	1.0
	IMP/Interve	ention		
(Saline/RIPC)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.6	0.1	0.5	0.9
(GTN/Sham)vs. (Saline/Sham)	1.0	0.1	0.7	1.4
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (Saline/Sham)	0.1	0.1	0.7	1.3
(GTN/Sham)vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.4	0.2	1.0	2.0
(GTN/RIPC)vs. (Saline/RIPC)	1.4	0.2	1.0	1.9
(GTN/RIPC) vs. (GTN/Sham)	0.9	0.1	0.7	1.3

Comments on Multiple Imputation analysis

The complete case data showed that there was no significant reduction in any time-point or AUC troponin with GTN versus no GTN. In more detail:

• Considering AUC:

There was no main effect for RIPC, nor for GTN nor the interaction term. Even if not significant, the average effect of GTN alone was to *increase* AUC.

• Considering Troponin T values at any time point:

RIPC has an overall effect at 6h, given that the interaction term was not significant. The same happened at 12h. In both cases, the reduction of the

troponin T (geometric) mean value was slightly above 20%. No significant effect was detected at both 24 and 48 hours.

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Effects of simultaneous multi-limb RIPC on PMI

Following cardiac surgery, the release of cardiac enzymes TnT has been associated with worse short- and long-term clinical outcomes (38, 39, 59) and therefore has a significant impact on the patient's outcome.

As previously discussed, one of the underlying causes of PMI during cardiac surgery is acute IRI secondary to intermittent aortic cross-clamp, ICCF or intermittent or continuous administration of cardioplegia (41). In this regard, RIPC offers a safe, noninvasive strategy that is capable of reducing PMI in patients undergoing cardiac surgery and therefore potentially improving their outcome.

Przyklenk and colleagues first introduced the concept of RIPC (114), finding a significant reduction in MI size in dogs subjected to four-5-minutes cycles in the LCx area, prior to 1 hour of sustained LAD ischaemia. However, Birnbaum et al. demonstrated that the same strategy could be replicated in a "remote" transient ischaemia in the hind-limb, applied with a partial occlusion of the femoral artery in conjunction with rapid pacing of the gastrocnemius muscle of a rabbit (118). Finally, it was Kharbanda et al. (158) who applied RIPC in healthy volunteers by inducing transient non-invasive limb ischaemia with a simple BP cuff applied to one arm and demonstrating improved endothelial function in the contralateral arm.

Our research group was the first to demonstrate that RIPC reduces PMI in adult patients undergoing cardiac surgery (162). In this trial, 57 patients who were going for

elective CABG with either cardioplegia or ICCF, were randomised to into RIPC (three-5-minute cycles of inflation and deflation of BP cuff placed on the upper arm) or control (an un-inflated BP cuff placed on the upper arm for 30 minutes). The results showed a 43% reduction in those patients who underwent RIPC release over the 72-hour perioperative period compared to controls. Further trials confirmed the results in 45 nondiabetic patients undergoing elective CABG with or without valve surgery and receiving cold-blood cardioplegia alone (190). In this trial, RIPC reduced the 72h troponin area under the curve by 42.4% concluding that RIPC can reduce PMI irrespective of the of myocardial preservation technique.

The concept of RIPC was extended to patients receiving antegrade cold crystalloid cardioplegia in a study by Thielmann et al. (191), where non-diabetic patients undergoing three-vessel disease CABG sustained a 44.5% reduction in AUC cTnl, showing that RIPC can extend protection to the patient undergoing CABG receiving crystalloid cardioplegia. In another trial conducted by Thielmann et al. (171), using the same preconditioning stimulus, they showed that the ratio of RIPC/control for cTnl AUC was 0.83. Interestingly, it demonstrated a significant reduction in the combined endpoint of all-cause mortality, major adverse cardiac and cerebrovascular events, and repeat revascularisation.

However, several other studies showed a limited benefit of RIPC in the setting of cardiac surgery. For example, Wagner et al. (192) applied a RIPC stimulus 18 hours before surgery (CABG±AVR), with TnT release only significantly reduced at 8 hours post-operatively, but not at 16 or 24 hours, thereby reflecting that the late window of preconditioning is a less potent strategy than classic preconditioning. Interestingly, a third treatment group where patients received tramadol 200 mg at 19:00 hours the day before surgery and at 06:00 hours on the day of the operation, PMI was significantly

higher than in the control group at all time-points. This would have indicated that medication given postoperatively, but within the effect window of RIPC, could have a significant effect on the end-product of preconditioning. Lomivorotov et al. (193) came up with exciting results with regards to RIPC and patients undergoing CABG surgery with cold crystalloid cardioplegia. Importantly, the trial measured cTnI and CK-MB pre-operatively and at 6, 24 and 48 hours post-surgery only, therefore not reflecting the true absolute post-operative release of cardiac biomarkers provided by total AUC.

Rahman et al. (168) investigated patients undergoing isolated first time multi-vessel CABG on cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) in a single-centre, double-blind, prospective, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Overall, 162 patients were recruited between January 2007 and March 2009 and randomly assigned on a 1:1 basis; the RIPC stimulus comprised 3 × 5-minute cycles of upper-limb 9-cm cuff inflation to 200 mm Hg separated by 5-minute periods of cuff deflation. The primary endpoint was 48-hour AUC cTnT release, while the secondary endpoints were 6-hour and peak cTnT, ECG changes, cardiac index, inotrope and vasoconstrictor use, renal dysfunction, and lung injury. In contrast to prior smaller studies, RIPC did not reduce troponin release, improve haemodynamics, or enhance renal or lung protection. The study included both elective CABG patients only. More importantly, many of the recruited patients received intra-operative GTN which could have interfered with the cardioprotection provided with RIPC.

High-risk procedures also might affect RIPC. Young et al. (194) failed to demonstrate that a standard preconditioning stimulus could improve PMI, AKI incidence or inotrope requirement in their trial where they recruited 96 patients undergoing high-risk cardiac

surgery, including combined CABG and valve surgery, CABG surgery with LVEF<50%, "redo-operation", MV surgery, and double or triple valve surgery.

Karuppasamy et al. (195) also failed to demonstrate the benefits of standard RIPC stimulus in their trial, where they recruited 54 patients undergoing elective CABG surgery, and receiving the volatile anaesthetic isoflurane before CPB and the intravenous anaesthetic propofol thereafter until the completion of surgery. Patients subjected to the RIPC stimulus did not show a significant reduction in cTnI, BNP, CK-MB, cytokines and growth factors.

3.5.2 The effect of anaesthetic regime used in cardiac surgery

The interaction between RIPC and Propofol was investigated in the RIPHeart trial (196). A double-blind, multicentre, randomised, controlled trial involving adults who were scheduled for elective cardiac surgery requiring cardiopulmonary bypass under total anaesthesia with intravenous propofol. A total of 1385 patients' data were analysed, of which 692 were in the RIPC group and 693 were in the sham-RIPC group. The results showed no significant differences between the RIPC group and the sham-RIPC group in the level of troponin release, and the trial team came to the conclusion that upper-limb RIPC performed while patients were under propofol-induced anaesthesia did not show a vital benefit among patients undergoing elective cardiac surgery.

The use of anaesthetic regime proved to have a significant effect on RIPC. In two crucial studies (170, 197), the two research teams failed to show significant benefits of RIPC on PMI. In the first trial (170), 72 non-diabetic patients were referred for elective CABG, with crystalloid cardioplegia and induction was achieved with a combination of sufentanil, etomidate and rocuronium. Maintenance was ensured

through either inhaled isoflurane, or propofol infusion with additional sufentanil administered in both cases at the discretion of the anaesthetist. The authors found that isoflurane and RIPC significantly reduced PMI compared to isoflurane alone, whereas no significant difference was found in patients receiving RIPC with propofol, compared to those receiving propofol alone. Lucchinetti et al. (197) used propofol, an opioid (either fentanyl, sufentanil or romifentanil) and rocuronium for induction in their trial, and maintained anaesthesia with isoflurane: RIPC consisted of four 5-minute cycles of 300mmHg cuff inflation/deflation of a BP cuff around the upper leg prior to aortic cross-clamping. The trial did not reduce the total release of cTnT or pro-BNP. Crucially, the incidence of post-operative new arrhythmias and MI was significantly higher in the preconditioned group.

In the ERIC-GTN trial, 158 of the 182 recruited patients received propofol intraoperatively (there were missing data for 12 patients), which accounts for 86.8% of these patients; in contrast, 24 recruited patients did not receive propofol, comprising 13.18% of these patients. Interestingly, it seemed that the RIPC effect was not hindered by propofol, as demonstrated by the RIPHeart trial outcome. It is worth mentioning, however, that RIPC was induced by four cycles of upper-limb ischaemia (5-minute blood-pressure cuff inflation to \geq 200 mm Hg, but at least 15 mm Hg higher than the patient's actual systolic arterial pressure, followed by 5-minute cuff deflation) in the RIPHeart trial, which is in contrast to the ERIC-GTN, where RIPC was induced by four cycles of upper and lower limb ischaemia (5-minute blood pressure cuff inflation to 200mmHg, followed by 5-minute cuff deflation).

3.5.3 ERICCA Trial

The ERICCA trial (198) from our institution was a cornerstone trial in the effort to translate the RIPC effect into the clinical setting. A total of 1612 patients (811 in the

control group and 801 in the RIPC group), undergoing elective on-pump CABG with or without valve surgery in 30 cardiac surgery centres in the United Kingdom, and only higher risk patients with EuroScores greater than 5 were recruited. The results showed there were no significant differences between groups in either adverse events, or the secondary endpoints of perioperative myocardial injury (area under the curve for the high-sensitivity assay of serum troponin T at 72 hours), inotrope score (calculated from the maximum dose of the individual inotropic agents administered in the first 3 days after surgery), acute kidney injury, duration of stay in the intensive care unit and hospital, distance on the 6-minute walk test, and quality of life. It is important to mention that 88.5% of the patients recruited to the ERICCA trial received propofol during their procedures.

In a recent meta-analysis (199) of all studies undergoing RIPC for cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass, these inconsistent findings were all echoed with intervention failing to show a reduced incidence of all-cause mortality, myocardial infarction, stroke, and lengths of ITU and hospital stay. Three studies randomised patients undergoing cardiac surgery to RIPC or sham procedure in the absence of propofol anaesthesia. In this subgroup of 434 randomised patients, 71 of 217 patients (32.7%) who underwent RIPC developed AKI compared with 103 of 217 patients (47.5%) treated with a sham procedure. In this cohort, RIPC resulted in a significant reduction in AKI (RR, 0.700; 95% CI, 0.527-0.930 [P=0.014]). In studies of patients who received propofol anaesthesia, 445 of 1874 (23.7%) patients randomised to RIPC developed AKI compared with 474 of 1901 (24.9%) who underwent a sham procedure. The RR for AKI was 0.928 (95% CI, 0.781-1.102; p=0.39) for RIPC versus sham. This suggests that propofol may mitigate the protective benefits of RIPC.

The neutral results of the ERRICA trial have been widely discussed. Some of the explanation offered was the fact that many of the recruited patients had diabetes. It is believed that individuals with diabetes are less well protected by cardioprotective strategies than non-diabetics, as described in Chapter one, and one quarter of patients recruited into the ERRICA trial were diabetics; many were also on concomitant medications including volatile anaesthetics (40.0%), propofol (88.5%), IV nitrates (28.7%), fentanyl (81.8%), and morphine (29.6%). The mechanism of injury during cardiac surgery includes not only reperfusion injury but microembolisation and inflammation, as the patient is put on and off bypass. The profile of the recruited patient includes many co-morbidities, so it is possible that most of them have been suffering from angina attacks for some time prior to their operation. It is well-described that patients experiencing stable angina for up to three months before acute myocardial infarction have a reduced infarct size (200).

A recent intriguing retrospective analysis of the ERRICA trial database examining the clinical outcomes between those with and without intra-operative IV GTN, demonstrated a "protective effect" of intraoperative GTN which, in principle, is not aligned with the results obtained from the ERIC-GTN trial.

Table 3.5.3.1 Retrospective analysis of the ERRICA trial database examining the clinical
outcomes between patients with and without intra-operative IV GTN.

	No intra- operative IV GTN	Intra-operative IV GTN (n=463)	P
	(n=1084)		
Peri-operative MI	260/1084 (24.0%)	92/463 (19.9%)	0.043*
1-year all-cause mortality	76/1084 (7.0%)	41/463 (8.9%)	0.13

1-year cardiovascular mortality	49/1084 (4.5%)	22/463 (4.8%)	0.47
Stroke	22/1084 (2.0%)	7/463 (1.5%)	0.32
Revascularisation	3/1084 (0.3%)	3/463 (0.6%)	0.25
Length of stay in ITU (days)	3 (1-5)	3 (1-5)	0.08
Length of stay in hospital (days)	10 (7-17)	10 (7-16)	0.81
ΑΚΙ	413/1038 (39.8%)	152/450 (33.8%)	0.016*
AUC for troponin T	34.5 (22.4-57.2)	31.2(20.7-53.8)	0.076
(ng.m/m), n=718	n=474	n=244	
Imputed AUC for AUC for troponin T (ng.hr/ml), n=1515	35.3 (22.8-52.6)	36.1 (23.7-57.2)	0.165

Another comparison from the same analysis showed the same "protective effect" of

GTN between those with and without baseline oral nitrates or IV GTN.

Table	3.5.3.2	Comparison	showing	the	clinical	outcomes	between	those	with	and
witho	ut basel	ine oral nitrate	es or IV G	TN.						

	No intra-operative IV GTN or baseline oral nitrates	Intra-operative IV GTN and/ or baseline oral nitrates	Ρ
	(n=927)	(n=620)	
Peri-operative MI	230/927 (24.8%)	122/620 (19.7%)	0.010*
1-year all-cause mortality	63/927 (6.8%)	54/620 (8.7%)	0.098
1-year cardiovascular mortality	41/927 (4.4%)	30/620 (4.8%)	0.40
Stroke	18/927 (1.9%)	11/620 (1.8%)	0.49
Revascularisation	2/927 (0.2%)	4/620 (0.6%)	0.18
Length of stay in ITU (days)	3 (1-5)	3 (1-5)	0.38

Length of stay in hospital (days)	10 (8-17)	10 (7-16)	0.14
ΑΚΙ	355/887 (40.0%)	210/601 (34.9%)	0.027*
AUC for troponin T (ng.hr/ml), n=718	35.0 (22.3-58.9)	31.3 (20.9-50.4)	0.03*
Imputed AUC for AUC for troponin T (ng.hr/ml), n=1515	34.9 (22.6-52.5) n=909	36.6 (22.7-57.2) n=606	0.029*

The next table shows the clinical outcomes divided into 4 groups depending on whether IV GTN or RIC administered. The table demonstrates a reduction in perioperative MI in patients who have received RIC, GTN or both compared to patients who have not received either.

Table 3.5.3.3 The clinical outcomes	divided into four	groups depending	on whether IV
GTN or RIC administered.			

	Group 1	Group 2	G	iroup 3	Group 4		
	No RIC or IV GTN	RIC only	IV (GTN only	Both RIC and IV GTN		
	(n=503)	(n=510)	(n=226)	(n=223)		
Peri-operative MI	132/503 (26.2%)	115/510 (22.5%)	(42/226 18.6%)	50/223 (22.4%)		
Р							
Group 1 vs. Group 2					0.19		
Group 1 vs. Group 3					0.025*		
	Group 1 vs. Grou	p 4			0.31		

Interestingly, Table 4.1.4 showed that the use of baseline nitrates and/or intraoperative

IV GTN in combination with RIC would have an adverse effect on the peri-operative

MI, 1-year all-cause mortality and 1-year cardiovascular mortality.

Table	3.5.3.4	Clinical	outcomes	between	the	groups	that	received	RIC	or	sham,
stratifi	ed by th	nose with	or without	baseline	oral	nitrate o	r intra	a-operative	e IV G	ĴΤΝ	

Clinical Outcome	Sham	RIC	P value					
No baseline oral nitrates or intra-operative IV GTN (n=864)								
Peri-operative MI	119/429 (27.7%)	98/435 (22.5%)	0.046*					
1-year all-cause mortality	32/429 (7.5%)	30/435 (6.9%)	0.43					
1-year cardiovascular mortality	20/429 (4.7%)	21/435 (4.8%)	0.52					
Stroke	7/429 (1.6%)	10/435 (2.3%)	0.32					
Revascularisation	2/429 (0.5%)	0/435 (0%)	0.25					
ΑΚΙ	162/418 (38.8%)	170/423 (40.2%)	0.36					
AUC for troponin T (ng.hr/ml), n=412	37.3 (23.1-61.6) n=201	31.1 (20.9-55.3) n=211	0.052					
Imputed AUC for AUC for troponin T (ng.hr/ml), n=846	35.2 (24.1-54.6) n=418	35.6 (21.6-51.6) n=428	0.25					
Baseline oral nitrates and	/ or intra-operative	IV GTN (n=598)						
Peri-operative MI	55/300 (18.3%)	67/298 (22.5%)	0.12					
1-year all-cause mortality	14/300 (4.7%)	36/298 (12.1%)	<0.001*					
1-year cardiovascular mortality	6/300 (2.0%)	23/298 (7.7%)	<0.001*					
Stroke	5/300 (1.7%)	5/298 (1.7%)	0.62					
Revascularisation	2/300 (0.7%)	2/298 (0.7%)	0.69					
ΑΚΙ	104/299 (34.8%)	105/287 (36.6%)	0.36					
AUC for troponin T (ng.hr/ml), n=298	33.1 (22.2-50.7) n=153	28.7 (20.0-50.0) n=145	0.28					
Imputed AUC for AUC for troponin T (ng.hr/ml), n=584	36.9 (25.3-59.4) n=291	36.5 (22.8-56.9) n=293	0.17					
---	---------------------------	---------------------------	-------	--				
Baseline oral nitrates only (n=149)								
1-year all-cause mortality	1/74 (1.4%)	9/75 (12.0%)	0.018					
1-year cardiovascular mortality	1/74 (1.4%)	7/75 (9.3%)	0.063					
IV GTN only (n=374)								
1-year all-cause mortality	9/192 (4.7%)	18/182 (9.9%)	0.052					
1-year cardiovascular mortality	3/192 (1.6%)	10/182 (5.5%)	0.048					
Both oral nitrates and IV GTN (n=75)								
1-year all-cause mortality	4/34 (11.8%)	9/41 (22.0%)	0.25					
1-year cardiovascular mortality	2/34 (5.9%)	6/41 (14.6%)	0.28					

From this retrospective analysis of the ERICCA trial, IV GTN and/or oral nitrates appear to reduce PMI incidence and AUC troponin, while RIPC appears to reduce PMI incidence but not in the presence of GTN and/or nitrates, and when given in combination, there appears to be a worsening mortality.

In ERIC-GTN, the initial trial protocol stated that the follow-up process for recruited patients would end in hospital discharge. However, and based on the above ad-hoc analysis of the ERICCA, we obtained the necessary approvals to extend the follow-up period to one year. The results showed that although there was a potential negative interaction between RIC and GTN in terms of one-year all-cause mortality from the post-hoc analysis of ERICCA trial, there was no evidence of mortality increase from the current ERIC-GTN trial, but the number of events were low.

3.5.3.5 ERIC-GTN patient recruited at UCLH NHS Trust and their distribution among
the trials' four arms.

Study Arms	Sham/Saline	Sham/GTN	RIPC/Saline	RIPC/GTN
Number of Patients recruited	31	32	28	34
Number of Deceased Patients	0	1	2	4
Missing outcomes	1	2	5	1
Percentage of deceased per arm	0%	3.125%	7.142%	11.764%

Total of missing data in this site	16
Total known randomisation but missing outcome	9
Total missing randomisation information	7

3.5.3.6 ERIC-GTN patient recruited at BARTS' NHS Trust and their distribution among the trials' four arms.

Study Arms	Sham/Saline	Sham/GTN	RIPC/Saline	RIPC/GTN
Number of Patients recruited	14	16	14	15
Number of Deceased Patients	0	2	0	0
Missing outcomes	0	1	2	0
Percentage of deceased per arm	0%	12.5%	0%	0%

Total of missing data in this site	5
Total known randomisation but missing outcome	3
Total missing randomisation information	2

3.5.4 The Effect of Diabetes

The fact that many CAD patients suffer from a concomitant medical condition, especially diabetes, can have a significant influence on the cardioprotective effect of RIPC. Animal studies have shown that the diabetic myocardium may have an increased resistance to IRI compared to the non-diabetic heart, although different results have been obtained from different animal models (201, 202). This was initially attributed to the acute pharmacological induction of type 1 diabetes in rats, mice, dogs or rabbits through the administration of pancreato-toxic substances. Most of these trials also suggested reduced resistance to IRI in the long-term DM (203, 204). In animal models, IPC has been shown to reduce IRI in DM type 1. However, interestingly, this effect was lessened in rats which had been diabetic for a few weeks (205). In the first animal models with DM type 2, the authors showed that animals with chronic diabetes sustained less IRI, but failed to demonstrate reduced myocardial injury by IPC in these models (202).

Human studies of the cardioprotective effects of IPC in diabetes have mainly focused on analysis of the recovery of atrial trabecular contractility in response to an IPC stimulus. The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute demonstrated that a more significant contractile function was recovered in human atrial trabeculae isolated from diabetic patients undergoing CABG surgery, when subjected to prolonged/more severe

hypoxic preconditioning (206). In this study the atrial trabeculae were isolated and subjected to 90 minutes of hypoxia followed by 120 minutes of re-oxygenation, following which the percentage recovery of baseline contractile function was determined. The atrial trabeculae were randomised to control groups; standard hypoxic preconditioning (HPC) compromised of 4 minutes of hypoxia/16 minutes of re-oxygenation before the 90 minute index hypoxic period, while the prolonged HPC protocol was 7 minutes of hypoxia/16 minutes of re-oxygenation before the index hypoxic period. Also, basal levels of Akt phosphorylation were determined in right atrial appendages harvested from non-diabetic and diabetic patients.

The study showed that standard HPC improved baseline contractile function in human atrial trabeculae harvested from non-diabetic patients, but not in atrial trabeculae isolated from diabetic patients. However, the prolonged HPC protocol did improve the baseline contractile function in atrial trabeculae harvested from diabetic patients. Western blot analysis demonstrated lower levels of the prosurvival kinase, phosphorylated Akt, in the diabetic myocardium compared to the non-diabetic myocardium. The trial team concluded that the threshold for preconditioning the diabetic myocardium is elevated, which may be related to down-regulation of the PI3K-Akt pathway.

CHAPTER 4

4.1 Summary and Future Considerations

As discussed in Chapter one, CAD is the leading cause of death worldwide, and any effort to reduce the mortality and morbidity caused by CAD would be welcomed. The complete data set analysis of the ERIC-GTN trial showed that the effect of RIPC is a 37.1% reduction in AUC geometric mean (p=0.031), which is significant for the time points 6, 12 and 24 hours for patients only in the RIPC treatment group (group 3), compared with the control group (group 1). However, the only significant reduction in AUC was noticed for group 3 (**RIPC+Saline**) vs. group 1 (**Sham+Saline**), which involved comparing groups where no GTN treatment was involved. The complete data analysis also showed that the effect of RIPC could not be generalised for patients who received GTN, and patients who received normal Saline. RIPC has decreased log (AUC) for patients who received GTN. The interaction was statistically significant (F=4.3, p=.0411).

In Bart's NHS Trust, for example, most patients undergoing CABG would routinely receive GTN infusion intraoperatively. Interestingly, this was also noticed in a clinical setting, that 86.81% of the patients recruited to the ERIC-GTN trial received propofol intraoperatively, as it was believed that propofol could abrogate the protective effect of RIPC (196).

The ERIC-GTN trial has provided an insight into the interaction between RIPC and GTN. As demonstrated in the ERIC-GTN data analysis and from the retrospective data analysis from the ERICCA trial, it seems that GTN have a negative interaction with RIPC.

It is clear from the previous retrospective analysis that further in-depth trials are needed to clarify the relationship between GTN and RIPC in a clinical setting, as the patients involved could also be long-term sufferers of DM and also receiving a cocktail of drugs to manage their risk factors.

Patients who undergo CABG as a revascularisation method usually have a background of DM and other CV risk factors. As demonstrated before, DM has an attenuating effect of RIPC in the long-term diabetic myocardium, which could negatively affect the protective effect of RIPC.

Due to these inconsistent results in cardiac surgery and essentially stable patients, RIPC has been used to explore whether it can reduce cardiac and renal events in patients that are unstable. The rationale for this is that the magnitude of ischaemia in stable patients is not significant enough for RIPC to show a beneficial effect; therefore, current studies are investigating whether acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction patients may be the correct subgroup. The Remote Ischaemic Conditioning Reduces Myocardial Infarct Size in STEMI Patients Treated by Thrombolysis (ERIC-LYSIS) trial (207) recruited 519 STEMI patients who were randomly assigned to receive either RIC (n = 258) or the control protocol (n = 261). The two groups had similar patient characteristics. AUC troponin T data were available for 414 patients, and AUC CK-MB data were available for 407 patients. Median enzymatic MI size was 32% smaller by 24-h AUC troponin T and 19% smaller by 24-h AUC CK-MB in patients who received RIC compared with control patients. The trial team concluded that RIC reduced MI size in STEMI patients treated with thrombolysis, making this non-invasive, easily applied, low-cost therapy an attractive option in developing nations where health care resources are limited, and the current therapy is not optimal.

The CONDI trial (208) seemed to support the rhetoric that RIPC benefits would be more prominent in unstable patients. In this trial, 333 patients with a suspected first acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction were randomised to receive primary percutaneous coronary intervention with (n = 166) or without (n = 167) remote ischaemic conditioning. Patients received remote conditioning during transport to the hospital, and primary percutaneous coronary intervention in the hospital. The primary endpoint was myocardial salvage index at 30 days after primary percutaneous coronary intervention, measured by myocardial perfusion imaging as the proportion of the area at risk salvaged by treatment. The median salvage index was 0.75 (IQR 0.50-0.93, n=73) in the remote conditioning group versus 0.55 (0.35-0.88, n=69) in the control group, with a median difference of 0.10 (95% CI 0.01-0.22; p=0.0333); the mean salvage index was 0.69 (SD 0.27) versus 0.57 (0.26), with a mean difference of 0.12 (95% CI 0.01-0.21; p=0.0333). This trial indicated that remote ischaemic conditioning before hospital admission increases myocardial salvage and has a favourable safety profile. The trial team recommended larger trials to establish these findings.

The follow-up trial CONDI2/ERIC-PPCI (209) could add to our understanding of the effect of RIPC in a clinical setting and will determine whether RIC can improve long-term clinical outcomes in STEMI patients undergoing PPCI. The CONDI2/ERIC-PPCI trial is a European multicentre (Denmark, Serbia, Spain, and United Kingdom) randomised controlled clinical trial of 5400 STEMI patients undergoing PPCI. Eligible patients will be randomised to receive either RIC (four-5 min inflations/deflations of a cuff placed on upper arm) or control before PPCI. The primary endpoint of the study will be cardiac death and heart failure hospitalisation. Secondary endpoints will include rates of all-cause death, coronary revascularisation, re-infarction, stroke at 30 days

and 12 months, TIMI flow post-PPCI, ST-segment resolution on ECG, and quality of life. MI size will be determined in cardiac enzyme and cardiac MRI sub-studies.

4.2 Limitations

The limitations of the ERIC-GTN trial included lack of standardisation of pre and perioperative medication which, as explained above, could interfere with the effect of RIPC. In addition, many recruited patients suffered from chronic conditions such as DM which, in turn, could influence RIPC effect.

In order to increase recruitment and due to competing trials, we recruited patients who underwent a variety of procedures including bypass and/or valves (replace or repair) operations. This would have involved a host of surgical techniques and different arrest protocols, which in turn affected troponin levels.

In our data analysis and to investigate its effect of the results, we used multiple imputations. For unbiased results, this approach required the assumption that data are missing completely at random, which was the case in the ERIC-GTN trial.

References

1. WHO | World Health Organization: World Health Organization; 2016 [updated 2016-04-14 15:14:45. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/gho/en/</u>.

2. Lloyd-Jones D, Adams R, Carnethon M, De Simone G, Ferguson TB, Flegal K, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2009 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation. 2009;119(3):e21-181.

3. MEMBERS WG, Lloyd-Jones D, Adams RJ, Brown TM, Carnethon M, Dai S, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2010 Update. 2010.

4. Yusuf S, Zucker D, Peduzzi P, Fisher LD, Takaro T, Kennedy JW, et al. Effect of coronary artery bypass graft surgery on survival: overview of 10-year results from randomised trials by the Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery Trialists Collaboration. Lancet. 1994;344(8922):563-70.

5. Sipahi I, Akay MH, Dagdelen S, Blitz A, Alhan C. Coronary artery bypass grafting vs percutaneous coronary intervention and long-term mortality and morbidity in multivessel disease: meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials of the arterial grafting and stenting era. JAMA internal medicine. 2014;174(2):223-30.

6. Ong AT, Serruys PW, Mohr FW, Morice MC, Kappetein AP, Holmes DR, Jr., et al. The SYNergy between percutaneous coronary intervention with TAXus and cardiac surgery (SYNTAX) study: design, rationale, and run-in phase. American heart journal. 2006;151(6):1194-204.

7. Mohr FW, Morice MC, Kappetein AP, Feldman TE, Stahle E, Colombo A, et al. Coronary artery bypass graft surgery versus percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with three-vessel disease and left main coronary disease: 5-year follow-up of the randomised, clinical SYNTAX trial. Lancet. 2013;381(9867):629-38.

8. Rihal CS, Raco DL, Gersh BJ, Yusuf S. Indications for Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery and Percutaneous Coronary Intervention in Chronic Stable Angina. 2003.

9. Brown IW, Jr., Smith WW, Emmons WO. An efficient blood heat exchanger for use with extracorporeal circulation. Surgery. 1958;44(2):372-7.

10. Brown IW, Jr., Smith WW, Young WG, Jr., Sealy WC. Experimental and clinical studies of controlled hypothermia rapidly produced and corrected by a blood heat exchanger during extracorporeal circulation. The Journal of thoracic surgery. 1958;36(4):497-505.

11. Tyers GF, Todd GJ, Niebauer IM, Manley NJ, Waldhausen JA. The mechanism of myocardial damage following potassium citrate (Melrose) cardioplegia. Surgery. 1975;78(1):45-53.

12. Lucas SK, Gardner TJ, Elmer EB, Flaherty JT, Bulkley BH, Gott VL. Comparison of the effects of left ventricular distention during cardioplegic-induced ischemic arrest and ventricular fibrillation. Circulation. 1980;62(2 Pt 2):142-9.

13. Cordell AR. Milestones in the development of cardioplegia. The Annals of thoracic surgery. 1995;60(3):793-6.

14. Geissler HJ, Mehlhorn U. Cold crystalloid cardioplegia. Multimedia manual of cardiothoracic surgery : MMCTS / European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery.

2006;2006(109):mmcts.2004.001040.

15. Martin J, Benk C. Blood cardioplegia. Multimedia manual of cardiothoracic surgery : MMCTS / European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery. 2006;2006(1009):mmcts.2004.000745.

16. Buckberg GD. A proposed "solution" to the cardioplegic controversy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1979;77(6):803-15.

17. Ferguson TB, Jr., Hammill BG, Peterson ED, DeLong ER, Grover FL. A decade of change--risk profiles and outcomes for isolated coronary artery bypass grafting procedures, 1990-1999: a report from the STS National Database Committee and the Duke Clinical Research Institute. Society of Thoracic Surgeons. The Annals of thoracic surgery. 2002;73(2):480-9; discussion 9-90.

18. Hawkes AL, Nowak M, Bidstrup B, Speare R. Outcomes of coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Vascular Health and Risk Management. 2006;2(4):477-84.

19. Keogh BE, Kinsman R. National adult cardiac surgical database report. The Society of Cardiothoracic Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland Playhatch, Berkshire, UK: Dendrite Clinical Systems Ltd. 1998.

20. Birkmeyer JD, Siewers AE, Finlayson EV, Stukel TA, Lucas FL, Batista I, et al. Hospital volume and surgical mortality in the United States. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(15):1128-37.

21. Peterson ED, Coombs LP, DeLong ER, Haan CK, Ferguson TB. Procedural volume as a marker of quality for CABG surgery. Jama. 2004;291(2):195-201.

22. Rose, Valavanur CW, Edward LH, Thomas JR, Edward B, Alfred TC, et al. Is the Impact of Hospital and Surgeon Volumes on the In-Hospital Mortality Rate for Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery Limited to Patients at High Risk? 2004.

23. Ivanov TMY, Paul WMF, Richard DW, Carolyn T, Joan. Predictors of operative risk for coronary bypass operations in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. 1999;118(6):1006-13.

24. Baskett R, Buth K, Ghali W, Norris C, Maas T, Maitland A, et al. Outcomes in octogenarians undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. CMAJ. 2005;172(9):1183-6.

25. Zakeri R, Freemantle N, Barnett V, Lipkin GW, Bonser RS, Graham TR, et al. Relation between mild renal dysfunction and outcomes after coronary artery bypass grafting. Circulation. 2005;112(9 Suppl):1270-5.

26. Kumar AB, Suneja M, Bayman EO, Weide GD, Tarasi M. Association between postoperative acute kidney injury and duration of cardiopulmonary bypass: a meta-analysis. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2012;26(1):64-9.

27. Nashef SA, Roques F, Hammill BG, Peterson ED, Michel P, Grover FL, et al. Validation of European System for Cardiac Operative Risk Evaluation (EuroSCORE) in North American cardiac surgery. European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery. 2002;22(1):101-5.

28. Roques F, Nashef SA, Michel P, Gauducheau E, de Vincentiis C, Baudet E, et al. Risk factors and outcome in European cardiac surgery: analysis of the EuroSCORE multinational database of 19030 patients. European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery. 1999;15(6):816-22; discussion 22-3.

29. Chaitman BR, Alderman EL, Sheffield LT, Tong T, Fisher L, Mock MB, et al. Use of survival analysis to determine the clinical significance of new Q waves after coronary bypass surgery. Circulation. 1983;67(2):302-9.

30. Loop FD, Lytle BW, Cosgrove DM, Stewart RW, Goormastic M, Williams GW, et al. Influence of the internal-mammary-artery graft on 10-year survival and other cardiac events. N Engl J Med. 1986;314(1):1-6.

31. Cameron A, Davis KB, Green G, Schaff HV. Coronary Bypass Surgery with Internal-Thoracic-Artery Grafts — Effects on Survival over a 15-Year Period. New England Journal of Medicine. 1996;334(4):216-20.

32. O'Connor NJ, Morton JR, Birkmeyer JD, Olmstead EM, O'Connor GT. Effect of coronary artery diameter in patients undergoing coronary bypass surgery. Northern New England Cardiovascular Disease Study Group. Circulation. 1996;93(4):652-5.

33. Rodriguez F, Nguyen TC, Galanko JA, Morton J. Gastrointestinal complications after coronary artery bypass grafting: a national study of morbidity and mortality predictors. Journal of the American College of Surgeons. 2007;205(6):741-7.

34. Echahidi N, Pibarot P, Despres JP, Daigle JM, Mohty D, Voisine P, et al. Metabolic syndrome increases operative mortality in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;50(9):843-51.

35. Kulier A, Levin J, Moser R, Rumpold-Seitlinger G, Tudor IC, Snyder-Ramos SA, et al. Impact of preoperative anemia on outcome in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Circulation. 2007;116(5):471-9.

36. Nashef SAM, Roques F, Michel P, Gauducheau E, Lemeshow S, Salamon R, et al. European system for cardiac operative risk evaluation (EuroSCORE). 1999.

37. Nashef SAM, Roques F, Sharples LD, Nilsson J, Smith C, Goldstone AR, et al. EuroSCORE II.2012.

38. Kathiresan S, Servoss SJ, Newell JB, Trani D, MacGillivray TE, Lewandrowski K, et al. Cardiac troponin T elevation after coronary artery bypass grafting is associated with increased one-year mortality. The American journal of cardiology. 2004;94(7):879-81.

39. Lehrke S, Steen H, Sievers HH, Peters H, Opitz A, Muller-Bardorff M, et al. Cardiac troponin T for prediction of short- and long-term morbidity and mortality after elective open heart surgery. Clinical chemistry. 2004;50(9):1560-7.

40. Nesher N, Alghamdi AA, Singh SK, Sever JY, Christakis GT, Goldman BS, et al. Troponin after cardiac surgery: a predictor or a phenomenon? The Annals of thoracic surgery. 2008;85(4):1348-54.
41. Wheatley DJ. Protecting the damaged heart during coronary surgery. Heart (British Cardiac Society). 2003;89(4):367-8.

42. Khuri SF. Evidence, sources, and assessment of injury during and following cardiac surgery. The Annals of thoracic surgery.72(6):S2205-S7.

43. Laffey JG, Boylan JF, Cheng DC. The systemic inflammatory response to cardiac surgery: implications for the anesthesiologist. Anesthesiology. 2002;97(1):215-52.

44. Anderson JR, Hossein-Nia M, Kallis P, Pye M, Holt DW, Murday AJ, et al. Comparison of two strategies for myocardial management during coronary artery operations. The Annals of thoracic surgery. 1994;58(3):768-72; discussion 72-3.

45. Alex J, Ansari J, Guerrero R, Yogarathnam J, Cale AR, Griffin SC, et al. Comparison of the immediate post-operative outcome of two different myocardial protection strategies: antegrade-retrograde cold St Thomas blood cardioplegia versus intermittent cross-clamp fibrillation. Interactive cardiovascular and thoracic surgery. 2003;2(4):584-8.

46. Futterman LG, Lemberg L. Hibernating myocardium, stunning, ischemic preconditioning: clinical relevance. American journal of critical care : an official publication, American Association of Critical-Care Nurses. 2000;9(6):430-6.

47. Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. Myocardial Reperfusion Injury. New England Journal of Medicine. 2007;357(11):1121-35.

48. Jaffe AS, Chaitman BR, Morrow DA, Bax JJ, White HD, Alpert JS, et al. Fourth universal definition of myocardial infarction (2018). European heart journal. 2018;40(3):237-69.

49. Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Simoons ML, Chaitman BR, White HD, et al. Third universal definition of myocardial infarction. 2012.

50. Ndrepepa G, Colleran R, Braun S, Cassese S, Hieber J, Fusaro M, et al. High-Sensitivity Troponin T and Mortality After Elective Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;68(21):2259-68.

51. Zeitouni M, Silvain J, Guedeney P, Kerneis M, Yan Y, Overtchouk P, et al. Periprocedural myocardial infarction and injury in elective coronary stenting. European heart journal. 2018;39(13):1100-9.

52. Thygesen K, Jaffe AS. The prognostic impact of periprocedural myocardial infarction and injury. European heart journal. 2018;39(13):1110-2.

53. Benoit MO, Paris M, Silleran J, Fiemeyer A, Moatti N. Cardiac troponin I: its contribution to the diagnosis of perioperative myocardial infarction and various complications of cardiac surgery. Critical care medicine. 2001;29(10):1880-6.

54. Kovacevic R, Majkic-Singh N, Ignjatovic S, Otasevic P, Obrenovic R, Paris M, et al. Troponin T levels in detection of perioperative myocardial infarction after coronary artery bypass surgery. Clinical laboratory. 2004;50(7-8):437-45.

55. Lim CCS, Cuculi F, van Gaal WJ, Testa L, Arnold JR, Karamitsos T, et al. Early Diagnosis of Perioperative Myocardial Infarction After Coronary Bypass Grafting: A Study Using Biomarkers and Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging. The Annals of thoracic surgery.92(6):2046-53.

56. Dakik HA, Howell JF, Lawrie GM, Espada R, Weilbaecher DG, He ZX, et al. Assessment of myocardial viability with 99mTc-sestamibi tomography before coronary bypass graft surgery: correlation with histopathology and postoperative improvement in cardiac function. Circulation. 1997;96(9):2892-8.

57. Tadamura E, Kudoh T, Motooka M, Inubushi M, Shirakawa S, Hattori N, et al. Assessment of regional and global left ventricular function by reinjection Tl-201 and rest Tc-99m sestamibi ECG-gated SPECTComparison with three-dimensional magnetic resonance imaging. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 1999;33(4):991-7.

58. Wagner A, Mahrholdt H, Holly TA, Elliott MD, Regenfus M, Parker M, et al. Contrastenhanced MRI and routine single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) perfusion imaging for detection of subendocardial myocardial infarcts: an imaging study. Lancet. 2003;361(9355):374-9.

59. Mohammed AA, Agnihotri AK, van Kimmenade RR, Martinez-Rumayor A, Green SM, Quiroz R, et al. Prospective, comprehensive assessment of cardiac troponin T testing after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Circulation. 2009;120(10):843-50.

60. Riedel BJ, Grattan A, Martin CB, Gal J, Shaw AD, Royston D. Long-term outcome of patients with perioperative myocardial infarction as diagnosed by troponin I after routine surgical coronary artery revascularization. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2006;20(6):781-7.

61. Adabag AS, adaba001@umn.edu, Division of Cardiology VAMCatUoM, Minneapolis, Minnesota, Rector T, Center for Chronic Disease Outcomes Research VAMCatUoM, Minneapolis, Minnesota, Mithani S, et al. Prognostic Significance of Elevated Cardiac Troponin I After Heart Surgery. The Annals of thoracic surgery. 2007;83(5):1744-50.

62. Sharma S, Jackson PG, Makan J. Cardiac troponins. Journal of Clinical Pathology. 2004;57(10):1025-6.

63. Bodor GS, Porterfield D, Voss EM, Smith S, Apple FS. Cardiac troponin-I is not expressed in fetal and healthy or diseased adult human skeletal muscle tissue. Clinical chemistry. 1995;41(12 Pt 1):1710-5.

64. Ricchiuti V, Voss EM, Ney A, Odland M, Anderson PA, Apple FS. Cardiac troponin T isoforms expressed in renal diseased skeletal muscle will not cause false-positive results by the second generation cardiac troponin T assay by Boehringer Mannheim. Clinical chemistry. 1998;44(9):1919-24.

65. Collinson PO, Boa FG, Gaze DC. Measurement of cardiac troponins. Annals of clinical biochemistry. 2001;38(Pt 5):423-49.

66. Katus HA, Schoeppenthau M, Tanzeem A, Bauer HG, Saggau W, Diederich KW, et al. Noninvasive assessment of perioperative myocardial cell damage by circulating cardiac troponin T. British heart journal. 1991;65(5):259-64.

67. Eigel P, van Ingen G, Wagenpfeil S. Predictive value of perioperative cardiac troponin I for adverse outcome in coronary artery bypass surgery. European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery. 2001;20(3):544-9.

68. Lurati Buse GA, Koller MT, Grapow M, Bruni CM, Kasper J, Seeberger MD, et al. 12-month outcome after cardiac surgery: prediction by troponin T in combination with the European system for cardiac operative risk evaluation. The Annals of thoracic surgery. 2009;88(6):1806-12.

69. Gross GJ, Auchampach JA. Reperfusion injury: does it exist? J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2007;42(1):12-8.

70. Gross ER, Gross GJ. Ligand triggers of classical preconditioning and postconditioning. Cardiovasc Res. 2006;70(2):212-21.

71. Vinten-Johansen J, Thourani VH, Ronson RS, Jordan JE, Zhao ZQ, Nakamura M, et al. Broadspectrum cardioprotection with adenosine. The Annals of thoracic surgery. 1999;68(5):1942-8. 72. Zhao ZQ, Vinten-Johansen J. Postconditioning: reduction of reperfusion-induced injury. Cardiovasc Res. 2006;70(2):200-11.

73. Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Reperfusion injury salvage kinase signalling: taking a RISK for cardioprotection. Heart failure reviews. 2007;12(3-4):217-34.

74. Piper HM, Garcia-Dorado D, Ovize M. A fresh look at reperfusion injury. Cardiovasc Res. 1998;38(2):291-300.

75. Akar FG, Aon MA, Tomaselli GF, O'Rourke B. The mitochondrial origin of postischemic arrhythmias. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2005;115(12):3527-35.

76. Iliceto S, Galiuto L, Marchese A, Cavallari D, Colonna P, Biasco G, et al. Analysis of microvascular integrity, contractile reserve, and myocardial viability after acute myocardial infarction by dobutamine echocardiography and myocardial contrast echocardiography. The American journal of cardiology. 1996;77(7):441-5.

77. Saraste A, Pulkki K, Kallajoki M, Henriksen K, Parvinen M, Voipio-Pulkki LM. Apoptosis in human acute myocardial infarction. Circulation. 1997;95(2):320-3.

78. Bolli R, Jeroudi MO, Patel BS, DuBose CM, Lai EK, Roberts R, et al. Direct evidence that oxygen-derived free radicals contribute to postischemic myocardial dysfunction in the intact dog. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1989;86(12):4695-9.

79. Zweier JL, Talukder MA. The role of oxidants and free radicals in reperfusion injury. Cardiovasc Res. 2006;70(2):181-90.

80. Ladilov YV, Siegmund B, Piper HM. Protection of reoxygenated cardiomyocytes against hypercontracture by inhibition of Na+/H+ exchange. The American journal of physiology. 1995;268(4 Pt 2):H1531-9.

81. Meissner A, Morgan JP. Contractile dysfunction and abnormal Ca2+ modulation during postischemic reperfusion in rat heart. The American journal of physiology. 1995;268(1 Pt 2):H100-11.

82. Ladilov YV, Siegmund B, Balser C, Piper HM. Simulated ischemia increases the susceptibility of rat cardiomyocytes to hypercontracture. Circ Res. 1997;80(1):69-75.

83. Engler RL, Schmid-Schonbein GW, Pavelec RS. Leukocyte capillary plugging in myocardial ischemia and reperfusion in the dog. The American journal of pathology. 1983;111(1):98-111.

84. Hutter JF, Soboll S. Role of fatty acid metabolites in the development of myocardial ischemic damage. Int J Biochem. 1992;24(3):399-403.

85. Buja LM, Entman ML. Modes of Myocardial Cell Injury and Cell Death in Ischemic Heart Disease. Circulation. 1998;98(14):1355-7.

86. Jenkins DP, Steare SE, Yellon DM. Preconditioning the human myocardium: recent advances and aspirations for the development of a new means of cardioprotection in clinical practice. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 1995;9(6):739-47.

87. Murry CE, Jennings RB, Reimer KA. Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. Circulation. 1986;74(5):1124-36.

88. Sumeray MS, Yellon DM. Ischaemic preconditioning reduces infarct size following global ischaemia in the murine myocardium. Basic Res Cardiol. 1998;93(5):384-90.

89. Schott RJ, Rohmann S, Braun ER, Schaper W. Ischemic preconditioning reduces infarct size in swine myocardium. Circ Res. 1990;66(4):1133-42.

90. Lee HT, Emala CW. Protective effects of renal ischemic preconditioning and adenosine pretreatment: role of A(1) and A(3) receptors. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2000;278(3):F380-7.

91. Kitagawa K, Matsumoto M, Tagaya M, Hata R, Ueda H, Niinobe M, et al. 'Ischemic tolerance' phenomenon found in the brain. Brain research. 1990;528(1):21-4.

92. Li G, Chen S, Lu E, Hu T. Protective effects of ischemic preconditioning on lung ischemia reperfusion injury: an in-vivo rabbit study. The Thoracic and cardiovascular surgeon. 1999;47(1):38-41.

93. Murry CE, Richard VJ, Jennings RB, Reimer KA. Myocardial protection is lost before contractile function recovers from ischemic preconditioning. The American journal of physiology. 1991;260(3 Pt 2):H796-804.

94. Baxter GF, Goma FM, Yellon DM. Characterisation of the infarct-limiting effect of delayed preconditioning: timecourse and dose-dependency studies in rabbit myocardium. Basic Res Cardiol. 1997;92(3):159-67.

95. Mullane K, Bullough D. Harnessing an endogenous cardioprotective mechanism: cellular sources and sites of action of adenosine. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 1995;27(4):1041-54.

96. Dana A, Baxter GF, Walker JM, Yellon DM. Prolonging the delayed phase of myocardial protection: repetitive adenosine A1 receptor activation maintains rabbit myocardium in a preconditioned state. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1998;31(5):1142-9.

97. Bell SP, Sack MN, Patel A, Opie LH, Yellon DM. Delta opioid receptor stimulation mimics ischemic preconditioning in human heart muscle. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000;36(7):2296-302.

98. Yao Z, Gross GJ. Acetylcholine mimics ischemic preconditioning via a glibenclamide-sensitive mechanism in dogs. The American journal of physiology. 1993;264(6 Pt 2):H2221-5.

99. Banerjee A, Locke-Winter C, Rogers KB, Mitchell MB, Brew EC, Cairns CB, et al. Preconditioning against myocardial dysfunction after ischemia and reperfusion by an alpha 1adrenergic mechanism. Circ Res. 1993;73(4):656-70.

100. Liu Y, Tsuchida A, Cohen MV, Downey JM. Pretreatment with angiotensin II activates protein kinase C and limits myocardial infarction in isolated rabbit hearts. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 1995;27(3):883-92.

101. Goto M, Liu Y, Yang XM, Ardell JL, Cohen MV, Downey JM. Role of bradykinin in protection of ischemic preconditioning in rabbit hearts. Circ Res. 1995;77(3):611-21.

Baines CP, Goto M, Downey JM. Oxygen radicals released during ischemic preconditioning contribute to cardioprotection in the rabbit myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 1997;29(1):207-16.
Schultz JE, Rose E, Yao Z, Gross GJ. Evidence for involvement of opioid receptors in ischemic

preconditioning in rat hearts. The American journal of physiology. 1995;268(5 Pt 2):H2157-61. 104. Hausenloy DJ, Lecour S, Yellon DM. Reperfusion injury salvage kinase and survivor activating factor enhancement prosurvival signaling pathways in ischemic postconditioning: two sides of the same coin. Antioxidants & redox signaling. 2011;14(5):893-907.

105. Kroemer G, Dallaporta B, Resche-Rigon M. The mitochondrial death/life regulator in apoptosis and necrosis. Annual review of physiology. 1998;60:619-42.

106. Crompton M, Costi A. Kinetic evidence for a heart mitochondrial pore activated by Ca2+, inorganic phosphate and oxidative stress. A potential mechanism for mitochondrial dysfunction during cellular Ca2+ overload. European journal of biochemistry. 1988;178(2):489-501.

107. Halestrap AP, Kerr PM, Javadov S, Woodfield KY. Elucidating the molecular mechanism of the permeability transition pore and its role in reperfusion injury of the heart. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 1998;1366(1-2):79-94.

108. Halestrap AP. Calcium, mitochondria and reperfusion injury: a pore way to die. Biochemical Society transactions. 2006;34(Pt 2):232-7.

109. Bernardi P. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore: a mystery solved? Frontiers in Physiology. 2013;4(95).

110. Woodfield K, Rück A, Brdiczka D, Halestrap AP. Direct demonstration of a specific interaction between cyclophilin-D and the adenine nucleotide translocase confirms their role in the mitochondrial permeability transition. Biochemical Journal. 1998;336(Pt 2):287-90.

111. Hausenloy DJ, Duchen MR, Yellon DM. Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening at reperfusion protects against ischaemia-reperfusion injury. Cardiovasc Res. 2003;60(3):617-25.

112. Shanmuganathan S, Hausenloy DJ, Duchen MR, Yellon DM. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore as a target for cardioprotection in the human heart. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2005;289(1):H237-42.

113. Baartscheer A, Hardziyenka M, Schumacher CA, Belterman CNW, van Borren MMGJ, Verkerk AO, et al. Chronic inhibition of the Na(+)/H(+)- exchanger causes regression of hypertrophy, heart failure, and ionic and electrophysiological remodelling. British Journal of Pharmacology. 2008;154(6):1266-75.

114. Przyklenk K, Bauer B, Ovize M, Kloner RA, Whittaker P. Regional ischemic 'preconditioning' protects remote virgin myocardium from subsequent sustained coronary occlusion. Circulation. 1993;87(3):893-9.

115. Sivaraman V, Pickard JMJ, Hausenloy DJ. Remote ischaemic conditioning: cardiac protection from afar. Anaesthesia. 2015;70(6):732-48.

116. Kant R, Diwan V, Jaggi AS, Singh N, Singh D. Remote renal preconditioning-induced cardioprotection: a key role of hypoxia inducible factor-prolyl 4-hydroxylases. Molecular and cellular biochemistry. 2008;312(1-2):25-31.

117. Xiao L, Lu R, Hu CP, Deng HW, Li YJ. Delayed cardioprotection by intestinal preconditioning is mediated by calcitonin gene-related peptide. European journal of pharmacology. 2001;427(2):131-5.

118. Birnbaum Y, Hale SL, Kloner RA. Ischemic preconditioning at a distance: reduction of myocardial infarct size by partial reduction of blood supply combined with rapid stimulation of the gastrocnemius muscle in the rabbit. Circulation. 1997;96(5):1641-6.

119. Oxman T, Arad M, Klein R, Avazov N, Rabinowitz B. Limb ischemia preconditions the heart against reperfusion tachyarrhythmia. The American journal of physiology. 1997;273(4 Pt 2):H1707-12.

120. Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Remote ischaemic preconditioning: underlying mechanisms and clinical application. Cardiovasc Res. 2008;79(3):377-86.

121. Costa JF, Fontes-Carvalho R, Leite-Moreira AF. Myocardial remote ischemic preconditioning: from pathophysiology to clinical application. Revista portuguesa de cardiologia : orgao oficial da Sociedade Portuguesa de Cardiologia = Portuguese journal of cardiology : an official journal of the Portuguese Society of Cardiology. 2013;32(11):893-904.

122. Lu Y, Dong CS, Yu JM, Li H. Morphine reduces the threshold of remote ischemic preconditioning against myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury in rats: the role of opioid receptors. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2012;26(3):403-6.

123. Chen XG, Wu BY, Wang JK, Bai T. [Mechanism of the protective effects of noninvasive limbs preconditioning on myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury]. Chinese medical journal. 2005;118(20):1723-7.

124. Chen Y-S, Chien C-T, Ma M-C, Tseng Y-Z, Lin F-Y, Wang S-S, et al. Protection "Outside the Box" (Skeletal Remote Preconditioning) in Rat Model is Triggered by Free Radical Pathway. Journal of Surgical Research.126(1):92-101.

125. Tang ZL, Dai W, Li YJ, Deng HW. Involvement of capsaicin-sensitive sensory nerves in early and delayed cardioprotection induced by a brief ischaemia of the small intestine. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology. 1999;359(3):243-7.

126. Pell TJ, Baxter GF, Yellon DM, Drew GM. Renal ischemia preconditions myocardium: role of adenosine receptors and ATP-sensitive potassium channels. The American journal of physiology. 1998;275(5 Pt 2):H1542-7.

127. Takaoka A, Nakae I, Mitsunami K, Yabe T, Morikawa S, Inubushi T, et al. Renal ischemia/reperfusion remotely improves myocardial energy metabolism during myocardial ischemia via adenosine receptors in rabbits: effects of "remote preconditioning". Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 1999;33(2):556-64.

128. Salloum FN, Das A, Thomas CS, Yin C, Kukreja RC. Adenosine A(1) Receptor Mediates Delayed Cardioprotective Effect of Sildenafil in Mouse. Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology. 2007;43(5):545-51.

129. Gho BC, Schoemaker RG, van den Doel MA, Duncker DJ, Verdouw PD. Myocardial protection by brief ischemia in noncardiac tissue. Circulation. 1996;94(9):2193-200.

130. Konstantinov IE, Li J, Cheung MM, Shimizu M, Stokoe J, Kharbanda RK, et al. Remote ischemic preconditioning of the recipient reduces myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury of the denervated donor heart via a Katp channel-dependent mechanism. Transplantation. 2005;79(12):1691-5.

131. Kristiansen SB, Henning O, Kharbanda RK, Nielsen-Kudsk JE, Schmidt MR, Redington AN, et al. Remote preconditioning reduces ischemic injury in the explanted heart by a KATP channeldependent mechanism. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2005;288(3):H1252-6.

132. Wang YP, Maeta H, Mizoguchi K, Suzuki T, Yamashita Y, Oe M. Intestinal ischemia preconditions myocardium: role of protein kinase C and mitochondrial K(ATP) channel. Cardiovasc Res. 2002;55(3):576-82.

133. Dickson EW, Lorbar M, Porcaro WA, Fenton RA, Reinhardt CP, Gysembergh A, et al. Rabbit heart can be "preconditioned" via transfer of coronary effluent. The American journal of physiology. 1999;277(6 Pt 2):H2451-7.

134. Serejo FC, Rodrigues LF, Jr., da Silva Tavares KC, de Carvalho AC, Nascimento JH. Cardioprotective properties of humoral factors released from rat hearts subject to ischemic preconditioning. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology. 2007;49(4):214-20.

135. Lang SC, Elsasser A, Scheler C, Vetter S, Tiefenbacher CP, Kubler W, et al. Myocardial preconditioning and remote renal preconditioning--identifying a protective factor using proteomic methods? Basic Res Cardiol. 2006;101(2):149-58.

136. Diwan V, Jaggi AS, Singh M, Singh N, Singh D. Possible involvement of erythropoietin in remote renal preconditioning-induced cardioprotection in rats. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology. 2008;51(2):126-30.

137. Malik A, Bromage DI, He Z, Candilio L, Hamarneh A, Taferner S, et al. Exogenous SDF-1α Protects Human Myocardium from Hypoxia-Reoxygenation Injury via CXCR4. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 2015:1-4.

138. Singh D, Chopra K. Evidence of the role of angiotensin AT(1) receptors in remote renal preconditioning of myocardium. Methods and findings in experimental and clinical pharmacology. 2004;26(2):117-22.

139. Liem DA, te Lintel Hekkert M, Manintveld OC, Boomsma F, Verdouw PD, Duncker DJ. Myocardium tolerant to an adenosine-dependent ischemic preconditioning stimulus can still be protected by stimuli that employ alternative signaling pathways. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2005;288(3):H1165-72.

140. Schoemaker RG, van Heijningen CL. Bradykinin mediates cardiac preconditioning at a distance. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2000;278(5):H1571-6.

141. Ding YF, Zhang MM, He RR. Role of renal nerve in cardioprotection provided by renal ischemic preconditioning in anesthetized rabbits. Sheng li xue bao : [Acta physiologica Sinica]. 2001;53(1):7-12.

142. Mastitskaya S, Marina N, Gourine A, Gilbey MP, Spyer KM, Teschemacher AG, et al. Cardioprotection evoked by remote ischaemic preconditioning is critically dependent on the activity of vagal pre-ganglionic neurones. Cardiovasc Res. 2012;95(4):487-94.

143. Leung CH, Wang L, Nielsen JM, Tropak MB, Fu YY, Kato H, et al. Remote cardioprotection by transfer of coronary effluent from ischemic preconditioned rabbit heart preserves mitochondrial integrity and function via adenosine receptor activation. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 2014;28(1):7-17.

144. Jensen RV, Stottrup NB, Kristiansen SB, Botker HE. Release of a humoral circulating cardioprotective factor by remote ischemic preconditioning is dependent on preserved neural pathways in diabetic patients. Basic Res Cardiol. 2012;107(5):285.

145. Peralta C, Fernández L, Panés J, Prats N, Sans M, Piqué JM, et al. Preconditioning protects against systemic disorders associated with hepatic ischemia-reperfusion through blockade of tumor necrosis factor–induced P-selectin up-regulation in the rat. Hepatology. 2001;33(1):100-13.

146. Olguner Ç, Koca U, Kar A, Karci A, İşlekel H, Canyilmaz M, et al. Ischemic preconditioning attenuates the lipid peroxidation and remote lung injury in the rat model of unilateral lower limb ischemia reperfusion. Acta anaesthesiologica Scandinavica. 2006;50(2):150-5.

147. Konstantinov IE, Arab S, Li J, Coles JG, Boscarino C, Mori A, et al. The remote ischemic preconditioning stimulus modifies gene expression in mouse myocardium. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;130(5):1326-32.

148. Konstantinov IE, Arab S, Kharbanda RK, Li J, Cheung MM, Cherepanov V, et al. The remote ischemic preconditioning stimulus modifies inflammatory gene expression in humans. Physiological genomics. 2004;19(1):143-50.

149. Wolfrum S, Schneider K, Heidbreder M, Nienstedt J, Dominiak P, Dendorfer A. Remote preconditioning protects the heart by activating myocardial PKCepsilon-isoform. Cardiovasc Res. 2002;55(3):583-9.

150. Wolfrum S, Nienstedt J, Heidbreder M, Schneider K, Dominiak P, Dendorfer A. Calcitonin gene related peptide mediates cardioprotection by remote preconditioning. Regulatory peptides. 2005;127(1-3):217-24.

151. Loukogeorgakis SP, Williams R, Panagiotidou AT, Kolvekar SK, Donald A, Cole TJ, et al. Transient limb ischemia induces remote preconditioning and remote postconditioning in humans by a K(ATP)-channel dependent mechanism. Circulation. 2007;116(12):1386-95.

152. Weinbrenner C, Schulze F, Sarvary L, Strasser RH. Remote preconditioning by infrarenal aortic occlusion is operative via delta1-opioid receptors and free radicals in vivo in the rat heart. Cardiovasc Res. 2004;61(3):591-9.

153. Heidbreder M, Naumann A, Tempel K, Dominiak P, Dendorfer A. Remote vs. ischaemic preconditioning: the differential role of mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. Cardiovasc Res. 2008;78(1):108-15.

Shimizu M, Tropak M, Diaz RJ, Suto F, Surendra H, Kuzmin E, et al. Transient limb ischaemia remotely preconditions through a humoral mechanism acting directly on the myocardium: evidence suggesting cross-species protection. Clinical science (London, England : 1979). 2009;117(5):191-200.
Hausenloy DJ, Maddock HL, Baxter GF, Yellon DM. Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability

transition pore opening: a new paradigm for myocardial preconditioning? Cardiovasc Res. 2002;55(3):534-43.

156. Baines CP, Song CX, Zheng YT, Wang GW, Zhang J, Wang OL, et al. Protein kinase Cepsilon interacts with and inhibits the permeability transition pore in cardiac mitochondria. Circ Res. 2003;92(8):873-80.

157. Cao Y, Zhang SZ, Xia Q. [Role of mitochondrial permeability transition pore in cardioprotection by remote preconditioning]. Zhongguo ying yong sheng li xue za zhi = Zhongguo yingyong shenglixue zazhi = Chinese journal of applied physiology. 2009;25(4):516-20.

158. Kharbanda RK, Mortensen UM, White PA, Kristiansen SB, Schmidt MR, Hoschtitzky JA, et al. Transient limb ischemia induces remote ischemic preconditioning in vivo. Circulation. 2002;106(23):2881-3.

159. Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Preconditioning and postconditioning: united at reperfusion. Pharmacology & therapeutics. 2007;116(2):173-91.

160. Gunaydin B, Cakici I, Soncul H, Kalaycioglu S, Cevik C, Sancak B, et al. Does remote organ ischaemia trigger cardiac preconditioning during coronary artery surgery? Pharmacological research. 2000;41(4):493-6.

161. Cheung MM, Kharbanda RK, Konstantinov IE, Shimizu M, Frndova H, Li J, et al. Randomized controlled trial of the effects of remote ischemic preconditioning on children undergoing cardiac surgery: first clinical application in humans. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;47(11):2277-82.

162. Hausenloy DJ, Mwamure PK, Venugopal V, Harris J, Barnard M, Grundy E, et al. Effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on myocardial injury in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2007;370(9587):575-9.

163. Candilio L, Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Remote ischemic conditioning: a clinical trial's update. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology and therapeutics. 2011;16(3-4):304-12.

164. Kloner RA, Shook T, Przyklenk K, Davis VG, Junio L, Matthews RV, et al. Previous angina alters in-hospital outcome in TIMI 4. A clinical correlate to preconditioning? Circulation. 1995;91(1):37-45. 165. Kloner RA, Shook T, Antman EM, Cannon CP, Przyklenk K, Yoo K, et al. Prospective temporal analysis of the onset of preinfarction angina versus outcome: an ancillary study in TIMI-9B. Circulation. 1998;97(11):1042-5.

166. Vivek S, Derek MY. Pharmacologic Therapy That Simulates Conditioning for Cardiac Ischemic/Reperfusion Injury. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology and therapeutics. 2013;19(1):83-96.

167. Crescenzi G, Cedrati V, Landoni G, Scandroglio AM, Bignami E, Bove T, et al. Cardiac biomarker release after CABG with different surgical techniques. Journal of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anesthesia. 2004;18(1):34-7.

168. Rahman IA, Mascaro JG, Steeds RP, Frenneaux MP, Nightingale P, Gosling P, et al. Remote ischemic preconditioning in human coronary artery bypass surgery: from promise to disappointment? Circulation. 2010;122(11 Suppl):S53-9.

169. Hong DM, Mint JJ, Kim JH, Sohn IS, Lim TW, Lim YJ, et al. The effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on myocardial injury in patients undergoing off-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Anaesthesia and intensive care. 2010;38(5):924-9.

170. Kottenberg E, Thielmann M, Bergmann L, Heine T, Jakob H, Heusch G, et al. Protection by remote ischemic preconditioning during coronary artery bypass graft surgery with isoflurane but not propofol - a clinical trial. Acta anaesthesiologica Scandinavica. 2012;56(1):30-8.

171. Thielmann M, Kottenberg E, Kleinbongard P, Wendt D, Gedik N, Pasa S, et al. Cardioprotective and prognostic effects of remote ischaemic preconditioning in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: a single-centre randomised, double-blind, controlled trial. Lancet. 2013;382(9892):597-604.

172. Xie J-J, Liao X-L, Chen W-G, Huang D-D, Chang F-J, Chen W, et al. Remote ischaemic preconditioning reduces myocardial injury in patients undergoing heart valve surgery: randomised controlled trial. 2012.

173. Choi YS, Shim JK, Kim JC, Kang KS, Seo YH, Ahn KR, et al. Effect of remote ischemic preconditioning on renal dysfunction after complex valvular heart surgery: a randomized controlled trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2011;142(1):148-54.

174. Wu Q, Gui P, Wu J, Ding D, Purusram G, Dong N, et al. Effect of Limb Ischemic Preconditioning on Myocardial Injury in Patients Undergoing Mitral Valve Replacement Surgery

– A Randomized Controlled Trial &ndash. Circulation Journal. 2011;75(8):1885-9.

175. PubChem. Nitroglycerin 2019 [Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/.

176. Murrell W. NITRO-GLYCERINE AS A REMEDY FOR ANGINA PECTORIS. The Lancet. 1879;113(2890):80-1.

177. Winbury MM, Howe BB, Hefner MA. Effect of nitrates and other coronary dilators on large and small coronary vessels: an hypothesis for the mechanism of action of nitrates. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics. 1969;168(1):70-95.

178. Izzat MB, West RR, Ragoonanan C, Angelini GD. Effect of systemic vasodilators on internal mammary artery flow. Implications for postoperative treatment after myocardial revascularization. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1994;108(1):82-5.

179. Arnaudov D, Cohen AJ, Zabeeda D, Hauptman E, Sasson L, Schachner A, et al. Effect of Systemic Vasodilators on Internal Mammary Flow During Coronary Bypass Grafting. The Annals of thoracic surgery. 1996;62(6):1816-9.

180. Ohqvist G. The use of nitrates in cardiac anaesthesia. Acta anaesthesiologica Scandinavica Supplementum. 1992;97:22-5.

181. Hashimoto S, Kobayashi A. Clinical Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Glyceryl Trinitrate and its Metabolites. Clinical Pharmacokinetics. 2003;42(3):205-21.

182. Gallagher JD, Moore RA, Jose AB, Botros SB, Clark DL. Prophylactic nitroglycerin infusions during coronary artery bypass surgery. Anesthesiology. 1986;64(6):785-9.

183. Thomson IR, Mutch WA, Culligan JD. Failure of intravenous nitroglycerin to prevent intraoperative myocardial ischemia during fentanyl-pancuronium anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1984;61(4):385-93.

184. Steensrud T, Li J, Dai X, Manlhiot C, Kharbanda RK, Tropak M, et al. Pretreatment with the nitric oxide donor SNAP or nerve transection blocks humoral preconditioning by remote limb ischemia or intra-arterial adenosine. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2010;299(5):H1598-603.

185. Hauerslev M, Mork SR, Pryds K, Contractor H, Hansen J, Jespersen NR, et al. Influence of long-term treatment with glyceryl trinitrate on remote ischemic conditioning. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2018.

186. Rosner MH, Okusa MD. Acute Kidney Injury Associated with Cardiac Surgery. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2006;1(1):19-32.

187. Ko WJ, Lin CY, Chen RJ, Wang SS, Lin FY, Chen YS. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support for adult postcardiotomy cardiogenic shock. The Annals of thoracic surgery. 2002;73(2):538-45.

188. Crystal E, Garfinkle MS, Connolly SS, Ginger TT, Sleik K, Yusuf SS. Interventions for preventing post-operative atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing heart surgery. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2004(4):Cd003611.

189. Candilio L, Malik A, Ariti C, Barnard M, Di Salvo C, Lawrence D, et al. Effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on clinical outcomes in patients undergoing cardiac bypass surgery: a randomised controlled clinical trial. Heart (British Cardiac Society). 2015;101(3):185-92.

190. Venugopal V, Hausenloy DJ, Ludman A, Di Salvo C, Kolvekar S, Yap J, et al. Remote ischaemic preconditioning reduces myocardial injury in patients undergoing cardiac surgery with cold-blood cardioplegia: a randomised controlled trial. Heart (British Cardiac Society). 2009;95(19):1567-71.

191. Thielmann M, Kottenberg E, Boengler K, Raffelsieper C, Neuhaeuser M, Peters J, et al. Remote ischemic preconditioning reduces myocardial injury after coronary artery bypass surgery with crystalloid cardioplegic arrest. Basic Res Cardiol. 2010;105(5):657-64.

192. Wagner R, Piler P, Bedanova H, Adamek P, Grodecka L, Freiberger T. Myocardial injury is decreased by late remote ischaemic preconditioning and aggravated by tramadol in patients undergoing cardiac surgery: a randomised controlled trial. Interactive cardiovascular and thoracic surgery. 2010;11(6):758-62.

193. Lomivorotov VV, Shmyrev VA, Nepomnyaschih VA, Ponomarev DN, Knyazkova LG, Lomivorotov VN, et al. Remote ischaemic preconditioning does not protect the heart in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. Interactive cardiovascular and thoracic surgery. 2012;15(1):18-22.

194. Young PJ, Dalley P, Garden A, Horrocks C, La Flamme A, Mahon B, et al. A pilot study investigating the effects of remote ischemic preconditioning in high-risk cardiac surgery using a randomised controlled double-blind protocol. Basic Res Cardiol. 2012;107(3):256.

195. Karuppasamy P, Chaubey S, Dew T, Musto R, Sherwood R, Desai J, et al. Remote intermittent ischemia before coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a strategy to reduce injury and inflammation? Basic Res Cardiol. 2011;106(4):511-9.

196. Meybohm P, Bein B, Brosteanu O, Cremer J, Gruenewald M, Stoppe C, et al. A Multicenter Trial of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning for Heart Surgery. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(15):1397-407.

197. Lucchinetti E, Bestmann L, Feng J, Freidank H, Clanachan AS, Finegan BA, et al. Remote ischemic preconditioning applied during isoflurane inhalation provides no benefit to the myocardium of patients undergoing on-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery: lack of synergy or evidence of antagonism in cardioprotection? Anesthesiology. 2012;116(2):296-310.

198. Hausenloy DJ, Candilio L, Evans R, Ariti C, Jenkins DP, Kolvekar S, et al. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning and Outcomes of Cardiac Surgery. N Engl J Med. 2015.

199. Pierce B, Bole I, Patel V, Brown DL. Clinical Outcomes of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Prior to Cardiac Surgery: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Am Heart Assoc. 2017;6(2).

200. Solomon SD, Anavekar NS, Greaves S, Rouleau JL, Hennekens C, Pfeffer MA. Angina pectoris prior to myocardial infarction protects against subsequent left ventricular remodeling. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2004;43(9):1511-4.

201. Tani M, Neely JR. Hearts from diabetic rats are more resistant to in vitro ischemia: possible role of altered Ca2+ metabolism. Circ Res. 1988;62(5):931-40.

202. Kristiansen SB, Lofgren B, Stottrup NB, Khatir D, Nielsen-Kudsk JE, Nielsen TT, et al. Ischaemic preconditioning does not protect the heart in obese and lean animal models of type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2004;47(10):1716-21.

203. Tosaki A, Pali T, Droy-Lefaix MT. Effects of Ginkgo biloba extract and preconditioning on the diabetic rat myocardium. Diabetologia. 1996;39(11):1255-62.

204. Ravingerová T, Pyne NJ, Parratt JR. Ischaemic preconditioning in the rat heart: The role of G-proteins and adrenergic stimulation. Molecular and cellular biochemistry. 1995;147(1):123-8.

Liu Y, Thornton JD, Cohen MV, Downey JM, Schaffer SW. Streptozotocin-induced non-insulin-dependent diabetes protects the heart from infarction. Circulation. 1993;88(3):1273-8.
Sivaraman V, Hausenloy DJ, Wynne AM, Yellon DM. Preconditioning the diabetic human myocardium. Journal of cellular and molecular medicine. 2010;14(6b):1740-6.

207. Yellon DM, Ackbarkhan AK, Balgobin V, Bulluck H, Deelchand A, Dhuny MR, et al. Remote Ischemic Conditioning Reduces Myocardial Infarct Size in STEMI Patients Treated by Thrombolysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65(25):2764-5.

208. Sloth AD, Schmidt MR, Munk K, Kharbanda RK, Redington AN, Schmidt M, et al. Improved long-term clinical outcomes in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction undergoing remote ischaemic conditioning as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention. European heart journal. 2014;35(3):168-75.

209. Hausenloy DJ, Kharbanda R, Rahbek Schmidt M, Moller UK, Ravkilde J, Okkels Jensen L, et al. Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on clinical outcomes in patients presenting with an STsegment elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. European heart journal. 2015;36(29):1846-8.



UCL

The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute University College London Medical School Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences

University College London

51-67 Chenies Mews London WC1E 6DB *Tel*: 020 3447 9888 *Fax:* 020 3447 5095 *Email:* hatter-institute@ucl.ac.uk

Professor DM Yellon PhD, DSc, Hon FRCP, FESC, FACC

Patient Information Sheet Version 5.1 01/04/2018

Part 1

Study title: The effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning (RIPC) and glyceryl trinitrate (GTN) on peri-operative myocardial injury in cardiac bypass surgery patients (ERIC-GTN study)

Sub Study 1: Examining the effects of RIPC and GTN on left ventricular function post operatively

Sub Study 2: Investigating cardioprotective biomarkers

Protocol Reference Number:

Investigation into the role of GTN & RIPC in cardiac surgery – protocol reference number 120541





We would like to invite you to take part in our research study and sub-study. Before you decide we would like you to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. One of our team will go through the information sheet with you and answer any questions you have. We'd suggest this should take about 20 minutes. Talk to others about the study if you wish.

Part 1 tells you the purpose of this study and what will happen to you if you take part. Part 2 gives you more detailed information about the conduct of the study.

Ask us if there is anything that is not clear. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

1. What is the purpose of the study?

This study examines a new concept where the blood supply to the forearm and leg stopped for a short time. Two blood pressure cuffs are inflated one on the arm and one on the leg. This is called remote ischaemic pre-conditioning (RIPC). RIPC may protect the heart during heart surgery.

We also wish to examine the effect of a drug that is used sometimes during heart surgery, called Glyceryl Trinitrate (GTN). We think GTN may influence the level of protection the heart receives from RIPC. This study hopes to look at the effect of using RIPC and GTN.

In one of the sub-studies will look at you heart function a few weeks to months after your operation. We wish to see if GTN and RIPC improves your heart function.

Sub-study 1 will look at your heart function a few weeks to months after your operation. We wish to see if GTN and RIPC improves your heart function.Sub-study 2 will look into the relationship between (RIPC) and other markers in your blood which could help protect your heart muscle.





2. Why have I been invited?

You have been admitted to the hospital for heart surgery. We are looking for patients having heart surgery that meet certain criteria and may benefit from this treatment. 260 patients will be recruited in total.

3. Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide to join the study. We will describe the study and go through this information sheet. If you agree to take part, we will then ask you to sign a consent form. You are free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason. This would not affect the standard of care you receive.

4. What will happen to me if I take part?

You will be involved in this research for the duration of your hospital stay. We will also follow your clinical outcome, up to one year after your discharge from hospital. We anticipate that the research study will last for 2 years. If you return to the hospital as part of your routine follow up, you may have an ultrasound scan of your heart. As part of the sub-study, we ask your permission to collect this data.

Randomised Trial – Sometimes we don't know which way of treating patients is best. To find out, we need to compare different treatments. We put people into groups and give each group a different treatment. The results are compared to see if one is better. To try to make sure the groups are the same to start with, each patient is put into a group by chance (randomly).

You will be randomly assigned to one of 4 treatment groups.

Group 1: No RIPC and no GTN.

Group 2: RIPC with no GTN

Group 3: No RIPC with GTN

Group 4: RIPC with GTN.





We will not know which group you will be allocated to in advance.

Your anaesthetic and surgery will proceed as normal. However, the group to which you are allocated will be coded and the code can be broken in an emergency. After you are asleep with the general anaesthetic, we will take a blood sample from you. You will then receive the treatment have been assigned.

We have defined below what each term means:

- a) RIPC: A blood pressure cuff will be placed around one arm and one thigh. Both cuffs with be inflated to above your blood pressure and kept there for five minutes. These will then be deflated for five minutes and the same cycle will be repeated three times.
- b) No RIPC: A blood pressure cuff will be placed around one arm and one thigh. There will be no inflation of either cuff. They will be kept on for 30 minutes.
- c) GTN: An infusion of glyceryl trinitrate (GTN) will be started after you are taken to the operating theatre. The anaesthetist will monitor your heart using ECG (sticky dots on the skin) and blood pressure recordings.
- d) No GTN: An infusion of salt water (normal saline) will be started after you are in the operating theatre. The anaesthetist will monitor your heart using ECG and blood pressure recordings.

Your operation will proceed as explained by your surgeon and will be the same whether or not you choose to take part or not. The infusion of GTN/normal saline will be stopped after you come off the heart bypass machine. The rest of the surgery will continue as planned. After your operation, you will be taken to the intensive care unit for routine post-operative care. We will visit you during this time to take blood samples 12 hours after, on day 1, and day 2. Often these tests can be taken with your routine blood tests, so does not involve any extra needle sticks. In total, 6 blood samples will be taken from you. Additionally we will gather some information about how you are doing (up to one year) to analyse the effect of the intervention you received

Blind trial – In a 'blind trial' you will not know which treatment group you are in. If the trial is a 'double blind trial', neither you nor your doctor will know in which treatment group you are (although, if your doctor needs to find out he/she can do so). In this trial, you, your anaesthetist, your surgeon and the trial statistician who analyses the data will be blinded.



Barts Health NHS Trust: The London Chest Hospital, Mile End Hospital, Newham University Hospital, The Royal London Hospital, St Bartholomew's Hospital and Whipps Cross University Hospital



Placebo – A placebo is a dummy treatment such as salty water (normal saline), which looks like the real thing but is not. It contains no active ingredient.

Kinetics of various potential cardioprotective biomarkers Sub-study – we will be obtaining extra blood samples at the same time of obtaining the original samples to detect markers which could help protecting your heart muscle. We will ask if you would like to participate in the cardioprotection biomarker study. This involves taking some additional blood at three of the main study visits: on the day of surgery; and 2 and 3 days after your surgery. As part of the main study procedures you will have between 2-3 ml of blood collected. If you consent to the cardioprotection biomarker study we will take an extra 1-2 ml of blood at the same time. The total volume of blood taken at these visits is equivalent to 1 teaspoon of blood. There is no additional risk associated to the substudy as we will collect this extra blood at the same time as the sample taken for the main study.

5. What will I have to do?

If you agree to take part in the study and the two sub-studies, there is nothing different you have to do while in hospital. You will need to give the additional bloods samples described above, which will be 6 blood samples in total. Most of these will not involve a separate needle stick. Additionally, if you have private medical insurance, we advise you to inform your insurer as soon as you are able.

6. What are the alternatives for diagnosis or treatment?

Currently there are no alternatives to remote ischaemic preconditioning, other than routine care. There are other drugs under investigation which might protect the heart but they are all in trial stages.

7. What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

The surgeon or one of the investigators will have explained to you that there are risks involved with any heart surgery. Remote ischaemic preconditioning does not add to the risk of surgery. Glyceryl Trinitrate is a drug that is used frequently in some types of heart surgery and there are few risks associated with its use. It may lower your blood pressure but this eventuality is a risk during heart surgery in general and will be dealt with by the anesthetists. GTN is used



Barts Health NHS Trust: The London Chest Hospital, Mile End Hospital, Newham University Hospital, The Royal London Hospital, St Bartholomew's Hospital and Whipps Cross University Hospital



commonly in some kinds of heart surgery, for e.g. coronary artery bypass surgery. It is used less commonly in other forms, for e.g. valve surgery.

Before participating you should consider if this will affect any insurance you have and seek advice if necessary.

8. What are the side effects of any treatment received when taking part?

Given the common use of GTN in this setting, there is a high chance you will receive the drug, even if you do not take part in the study. Thus the risks of the study are likely to be no higher than the risks of the operation as explained to you by the surgeon.

It is possible that if the treatment is given to a pregnant woman it will harm the unborn child. Pregnant women must not therefore take part in this study. Women who are at risk of pregnancy may be asked to have a pregnancy test before taking part to exclude the possibility of pregnancy. Any woman who finds that she has become pregnant while taking part in the study should immediately tell her research doctor.

9. What is the Cardioprotective biomarkers Sub study

This is a sub study that will look into the presence and levels of different markers in your blood at different time pre and post-surgery. We will be using the same bloods samples taken for the main trial for this sub study. No additional blood draws will be taken; we will take only an additional volume of 3-5 mls during the blood draws performed as part of the main study, Some of the samples may be stored for further analysis (up to 2 years before being destroyed)

10. What are the possible benefits of taking part?

We will be able to establish if it is possible to use remote ischaemic preconditioning and Glyceryl Trinitrate in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft and valve surgery. The results of the study and the sub study may therefore benefit patients in the future, however, you may not directly benefit in any way from this study.

11. What happens when the research study stops?

Your routine care and the medication that you take are not affected in any way by the treatments in this trial. Once the study stops, you should continue all medicines as advised by your doctor.





12. What if there is a problem?

Any complaint about the way you have been dealt with during the clinical trial or any possible harm you might suffer will be addressed. The detailed information concerning this is given in Part 2 of this information sheet. If you have any concerns or complaints you should contact your study doctor in the first instance.

13. Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

Yes. We will follow ethical and legal practice and all information about you will be handled in confidence. The details are included in Part 2.

14. Contact Details

Your Doctor and Research Fellow

Name Dr Ashraf Hamarneh Tel. Number: 02034479888

This completes Part 1 of the Information Sheet.

If the information in Part 1 has interested you and you are considering participation, please read the additional information in Part 2 before making any decision.

Part 2

15. What if relevant new information becomes available?

Sometimes we get new information about the treatment being studied. If this happens, we will tell you about it and discuss whether you want to or should continue in the study. If you decide not to carry on, your routine care is not affected in any way. If you decide to continue in the study we will ask you to sign an updated consent form.

16. What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

You can withdraw from the study or the sub-study at any time. We request that we be allowed to use any data collected till that point. However, you can ask us to discard all samples and all data collected if you wish.





17. What if there is a problem?

If you think there is a problem while taking part in this trial, please use the following information below to contact the research doctors.

If there is a problem during routine care in the hospital, please inform you nurse or doctors looking after you. They let you know what to do.

Complaints

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study, you should ask to speak to the researchers who will do their best to answer your questions. Contact details are given on part 1 of this form. If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally, you can do this via National Health Service or UCL complaints mechanisms. Please ask your research doctor if you would like more information on this.

Every care will be taken in the course of this clinical trial. However in the unlikely event that you are injured by taking part, compensation may be available.

If you suspect that the injury is the result of the Sponsor's (University College London) or the hospital's negligence then you may be able to claim compensation. After discussing with your study doctor, please make the claim in writing to the Professor Derek Yellon who is the Chief Investigator for the clinical trial and is based at The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute, 67 Chenies Mews, University College London, London WC1E 6HX. The Chief Investigator will then pass the claim to the Sponsor's Insurers, via the Sponsor's office. You may have to bear the costs of the legal action initially, and you should consult a lawyer about this.

Participants may also be able to claim compensation for injury caused by participation in this clinical trial without the need to prove negligence on the part of University College London or another party. You should discuss this possibility with your study doctor in the same way as above.

Regardless of this, if you wish to complain, or have any concerns about any aspect of the way you have been approached or treated by members of staff or about any side effects (adverse events) you may have experienced due to your participation in the clinical trial, the normal National Health Service complaints mechanisms are available to you. Barts Health has a patient advice and liaison service http://www.bartshealth.nhs.uk/pals

They can be contacted via telephone on: **Tel:** 020 3594 2040 or via email at: <u>pals@bartshealth.nhs.uk</u>





Please ask your study doctor if you would like more information on this. Details can also be obtained from the Department of Health website: <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk</u>.

18. Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

If you consent to take part in this study, the records obtained while you are in this study as well as related health records will remain strictly confidential at all times. The information will be held securely on paper and electronically at your treating hospital and at University College London under the provisions of the 1998 Data Protection Act. Your name will not be passed to anyone else outside the research team or the Sponsor (UCL), who is not involved in the trial. You will be allocated a trial number, which will be used as a code to identify you on all trial forms. Any information about you, which leaves the hospital, will have your name and address removed so that you cannot be recognized.

Your records will be available to people authorised to work on the trial but may also need to be made available to people authorised by the Sponsor, which is the organisation responsible for ensuring that the study is carried out correctly. By signing the consent form you agree to this access for the current study and any further research that may be conducted in relation to it, even if you withdraw from the current study.

The information collected about you may also be shown to authorised people from the UK Regulatory Authority (the Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Authority); this is to ensure that the study is carried out to the highest possible scientific standards. All will have a duty of confidentiality to you as a research participant.

If you withdraw consent from further study treatment, unless you object, your data and samples will remain on file and will be included in the final study analysis.

In line with the regulations, at the end of the study your data will be securely archived for a minimum of 20 years. Arrangements for confidential destruction will then be made.

19. Will my GP be informed of my involvement?





With your permission, your GP, and other doctors who may be treating you, will be notified that you are taking part in this study.

20. What will happen to any samples I give?

Blood samples will be discarded immediately after the tests have been completed. They will be tested for markers of injury to the heart and kidneys. The additional volume taken for the sub-study will be anonymized and stored at the UCL Hatter Institute for up to 2 years for the cardioprotective biomarkers analyses. These will be destroyed after analysis.

21. Will any genetic tests be done?

No genetic tests will be done

22. What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results of the study will be available after it finishes and will usually be published in a medical journal or be presented at a scientific conference. The data will be anonymous and none of the patients involved in the trial will be identified in any report or publication.

Should you wish to see the results, or the publication, please ask your study doctor.

23. Who is organising and funding the research?

The research is organized and funded by The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute and is sponsored by University College London. The funding of the Hatter Cardiovascular Institute comes from charities such as the Rosetrees Trust and the National Institute for Health Research. Your doctor will not be paid for including you in this study.

24. Who has reviewed the study?

All research in the NHS is looked at by independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee, to protect your interests. This study has been reviewed and given favourable opinion by Westminster Research Ethics Committee.



Barts Health NHS Trust: The London Chest Hospital, Mile End Hospital, Newham University Hospital, The Royal London Hospital, St Bartholomew's Hospital and Whipps Cross University Hospital



25. Further information and contact details

You are encouraged to ask any questions you wish, before, during or after your treatment. If you have any questions about the study, please speak to your study nurse or doctor, who will be able to provide you with up to date information about the drug(s)/procedure(s) involved. If you wish to read the research on which this study is based, please ask your study nurse or doctor. If you require any further information or have any concerns while taking part in the study please contact one of the following people:

Your Doctor and Research Fellow

Name Dr Ashraf Hamarneh

Tel. Number: or

Alternatively if you or your relatives have any questions about this study you may wish to contact one of the following organisations that are independent of the hospital at which you are being treated:

If you decide you would like to take part then please read and sign the consent form. You will be given a copy of this information sheet and the consent form to keep. A copy of the consent form will be filed in your patient notes, one will be filed with the study records and one may be sent to the Research Sponsor.

You can have more time to think this over if you are at all unsure.

Thank you for taking part in this study

